# 17 - 21 GHz Low-Noise Amplifier with Embedded Interference Rejection

by

Tejasvi Jodhka

A thesis

presented to the University of Waterloo in fulfillment of the thesis requirement for the degree of Master of Applied Science in

Electrical and Computer Engineering

Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, 2022

© Tejasvi Jodhka 2022

#### Author's Declaration

I hereby declare that I am the sole author of this thesis. This is a true copy of the thesis, including any required final revisions, as accepted by my examiners.

I understand that my thesis may be made electronically available to the public.

#### Abstract

The ever-growing demand for high performance wireless connectivity has led to the development of fifth-generation (5G) wireless communication standards as well as satellite communication (Satcom). Both 5G wireless communications and Satcom use higher carrier frequencies than traditional standards such as 4G and WiFi. While the higher carrier frequencies allow for larger bandwidths and faster data rates, they come with the cost of high free-space path loss. This high loss necessitates the use of active phased array antennas, which can require hundreds of integrated circuits (ICs) designed in Complimentary Metal-Oxide Semiconductor (CMOS) processes. Furthermore, in a future world with ubiquitous 5G wireless base stations and Satcom users, it is conceivable that Satcom receivers can be jammed by high-power Satcom transmitters and 5G signals. Therefore, Satcom phased arrays must be designed for resilience against these sources of interference while supporting high data rates.

One of the key components in a Satcom receiver is the low-noise amplifier (LNA). It is responsible for amplifying the weak, noisy signal received from the satellite into a signal with sufficiently high signal-to-noise ratio for demodulation. One possible solution for making the phased array resilient to sources of interference is to embed filtering in the LNA.

This thesis presents two LNA designs that employ embedded filtering for resiliency to interference from 5G wireless signals and Satcom transmitters. First, the circuit-level specifications of a 17.7 - 21.2 GHz (K-band) LNA for satellite communication phased array beamformers are derived from the system requirements. Next, the LNA designs are presented. The first LNA is designed to have out-of-band filtering at 24-30 GHz, which corresponds to the bands containing both 5G and Satcom transmitter interferers. The second LNA is designed to have out-of-band filtering at 27-30 GHz, which addresses a different scenario where the Satcom transmitter is the sole source of interference. Both LNAs are implemented in the Global Foundries 130nm 8XP Silicon-Germanium Bipolar CMOS (SiGe BiCMOS) process. A novel transformer feedback notch is introduced that enhances the filtering capabilities of the amplifier. The full electromagnetic simulation of the first LNA shows a peak gain of 28.8 dB, a minimum noise figure of 1.85 dB, and and input 1 dB compression point  $(IP_{1dB})$  greater than -17 dBm between 24 and 30 GHz. The second LNA shows a peak gain of 27.9 dB, a minimum noise figure of 1.78 dB, and an IP<sub>1dB</sub> greater than -15 dBm between 27 and 30 GHz. Both LNAs meet specifications sufficient for a Satcom receiver at the same time as having resiliency to out-of-band interference sources.

#### Acknowledgements

First, I would like to thank my co-supervisors Dr. Mohammad-Reza Nezhadahmadi Mohabadi and Professor Slim Boumaiza for their mentorship over the past 2 years. I would also like to thank Professor Safieddin Safavi-Naeini, who first gave me the opportunity to join the Centre for Intelligent Antenna and Radio Systems (CIARS).

I would also like to thank my parents for their unwavering support, without which I would never have been able to focus on my education as much as I have. Finally, I would like to thank all the colleagues at the University of Waterloo in CIARS and in EmRG for their valuable advice and discussions.

## **Table of Contents**

Li	st of	Figure	es en la companya de	viii
Li	st of	Tables	3	xii
1	Intr	oducti	on	1
	1.1	Motiva	$\operatorname{ation}$	1
		1.1.1	Satellite and 5G Communications	1
		1.1.2	Phased Array Antennas	2
	1.2	Proble	m Statement	5
	1.3	Thesis	Organization	5
2	Bac	kgrour	nd and Literature Review	7
	2.1	LNA I	Design Without Filtering	7
		2.1.1	Common-source LNA	7
		2.1.2	Cascode LNA	10
	2.2	A Rev	iew of Out-of-Band Filtering Techniques	11
		2.2.1	Passive Filtering Techniques	12
		2.2.2	Active Filtering Techniques	18
	2.3	Summ	ary of Filtering Techniques in Receivers	22

3	$\mathbf{Sys}$	em Analysis	24
	3.1	System Modelling	24
	3.2	Component Level Specifications	28
		3.2.1 Gain and Small-Signal Rejection	28
		3.2.2 Noise Figure	28
		3.2.3 Gain Flatness	28
		3.2.4 LNA Linearity	31
		3.2.5 Input and Output Return Losses	36
		3.2.6 Power Consumption	36
		3.2.7 Chip Area	37
		3.2.8 Summary of Specifications	38
4	Inte	ference-Rejecting LNA Design 4	40
	4.1	Design 1: A Single-Ended LNA with 5G and Satcom Self-Interference Rejection	40
		4.1.1 Transistor Sizing, Bias, and Layout	41
		4.1.2 Input Matching Network	46
		4.1.3 Interstage Matching Network	47
		4.1.4 Analysis of the Novel Second-Stage Notch	54
		4.1.5 Simulation Results	63
	4.2	Design 2: A Single-Ended to Differential LNA with Satcom Self-Interference Rejection	72
		4.2.1 Amplifier Schematic	72
		4.2.2 Simulation Results	74
	4.3	Summary of LNA Performance	77
5	Me	surement Results	78
	5.1	Design 1	78
	5.2	Design 2 Measurement Plan	83

6	Conclusion and Future Work		85
	6.1	Conclusion	85
	6.2	Future Work	86
Re	eferei	nces	88
Al	PPE	NDICES	94
A	H-P	arameters of Transformer Feedback Notch	95
	A.1	H-Parameter Analysis	95
В	Des	ign 1 First-Stage Transistor Short	97

# List of Figures

1.1	Satellite communications architecture [1]	2
1.2	Low-millimeter wave frequency bands for Satcom and 5G communications (axis not to scale)	2
1.3	Atmospheric attenuation vs. frequency [2]	3
1.4	A phased array receiver. (a). Conceptual block diagram. (b) An example phased array receiver [3]	4
2.1	Common source LNA and its small signal equivalent circuit.	8
2.2	Small signal equivalent of a common-source LNA with $C_{gd}$	10
2.3	Cascode LNA schematic.	11
2.4	Block diagram of the beamformer and its connections from [4]	12
2.5	Shunt LC notch used in $[5]$	13
2.6	Degeneration Transformer LC notch used in [6]	14
2.7	Parallel LC notch used at the input of an amplifier, as in [7]	14
2.8	The 3-coil transformer from [8]. (a) Transformer schematic. (b) Equivalent circuit.	15
2.9	Schematic of the filtering LNA designed in [9]	17
2.10	Schematic of the wideband LNA in [10] that implements distributed notch filtering.	18
2.11	Circuit topologies for the LNA with a feedback notch, introduced in [11]. (a) Active notch schematic. (b) Feedback notch block diagram. (c) LNA schematic with an active notch and feedback.	19

2.12	Schematic and gain of the active feedforward notch LNA from [12]	21
2.13	LC notch Q enhancement with a negative resistance generator	22
3.1	Block diagram of the phased array system model	25
3.2	Frequency response of a beamformer with different 3-dB BWs	29
3.3	Modulated signal simulation results. (a) Spectrum of the modulated signal at the output of the simulated array. (b) Constellation of the demodulated output of the simulated array.	30
3.4	Effect of beamformer frequency response on array output SNR with a 16-QAM signal of varying bandwidths. (a) SNR vs beamformer 3-dB bandwidth. (b) SNR vs gain flatness at 17.7 GHz.	31
3.5	(a) Patch antenna gain over frequency from [13] as well (b) the calculated 5G blocker power over frequency.	33
3.6	Relative positions of two 4096-element transmitter and receiver arrays separated by 10cm.	34
3.7	Results of the coupling calculation. (a) Heatmap of received power at 28 GHz. (b). Histogram of received power	36
3.8	Example floorplan of an 8-channel beamformer for a 2 by 2 dual-polarized phased array tile (not to scale).	38
4.1	Schematic of the LNA Design 1 with 24-30 GHz filtering designed in this work.	41
4.2	Schematic that was simulated to determine the optimal first-stage emitter length. Both devices have the same emitter area, and have a constant emitter width of 0.12 $\mu$ m.	42
4.3	Smith Chart plot of the change in $Z_{opt}$ with the emitter length of $Q_1$ and $Q_2$ at 20 GHz	43
4.4	Minimum noise figure at 20 GHz vs. current density (in mA per micron of emitter length) for a cascode stage consisting of HBTs with $32x0.12\mu m^2$ emitter area.	44
4.5	First-stage active core layout. (a) Metal stack-up of the GlobalFoundries 8XP process. AM and LY are thick aluminium layers for interconnects and RF passives, while the other layers are copper. (b). Layout images of the first stage transistor core.	45

4.6	Layout of the input transformer for the LNA.	47
4.7	Block diagram of the LNA and its inter-stage matching network (IMN)	48
4.8	Smith chart plot of the second stage's $\Gamma_{opt}$ and $S_{11}$ from 17.7-21.2 GHz $$ .	49
4.9	Equivalent circuit of the inter-stage matching network of the LNA	49
4.10	Simplified circuit of the LNA inter-stage matching network	51
4.11	Example trajectory of $Z_{out1}$ to the targeted second-stage source impedance.	52
4.12	The second stage notch and its small-signal equivalent circuit. $\ldots$	54
4.13	The second stage notch. (a) Second-stage schematic. (b) Small-signal equivalent.	55
4.14	Signal flow diagram of the second stage with the degeneration notch. $\ldots$	58
4.15	Comparison between the second-stage voltage gain as predicted by the model vs. simulation of HBTs.	61
4.16	Second-stage notch behaviour versus coupling factor $k$ . (a) Frequency response of $A_V$ . (b) Location of notch frequency	62
4.17		63
4.18	Filtering LNA layout. Only the top 3 metals are displayed	64
4.19	(a) Filtering LNA s-parameters for $v_{n1}$ and $v_{n2} = 1.2$ V. (b) Zoomed in plot of the LNA gain.	65
4.20	Filtering LNA noise figure with $v_{n1}$ and $v_{n2}$ set to 1.2 V	65
4.21	Filtering LNA small-signal results vs. notch control voltages. (a) $S_{21}$ , (b) $S_{11}$ , (c), $S_{22}$ , (d) Noise figure.	66
4.22	Large signal simulation results of the LNA with filtering. (a). Input 1-dB compression point (IP <sub>1dB</sub> ). (b). Output 1-dB compression point (OP1dB) .	67
4.23	$IIP_3$ vs. frequency of Design 1	68
4.24	Gain flatness vs. frequency for the filtering LNA for the different tuning states.	69
4.25	$\mu$ -factor of each stage, as well as the full amplifier, for Design 1	70
4.26	Monte-Carlo simulation results of Design 1. (a) Gain at 19 GHz. (b) Small- signal rejection between 19 GHz and 24 GHz. (c). Noise figure at 19 GHz.	71
4.27	Schematic and component values for Design 2	73

4.28	Layout of Design 2	73
4.29	(a) S-parameters and (b) noise figure of LNA 2	75
4.30	(a) Gain flatness of LNA 2. (b)IP <sub>1dB</sub> and OP1dB of Design 2	75
4.31	$IIP_3$ of Design 2 vs. frequency	76
4.32	$\mu\text{-}\mathrm{factor}$ of Design 2's stages as well as the full amplifier	76
5.1	Micrograph of the fabricated Design 1 chip.	79
5.2	LNA measurement setup	79
5.3	First stage short.	80
5.4	Off-state of the measured LNA. (a) Magnitude of $S_{11}$ and $S_{22}$ . (b) Smith chart plot of $S_{11}$	81
5.5	Measured on-state s-parameters of the LNA with $V_{CC}$ of 1 V across all 4 tuning states. (a) $S_{21}$ . (b) $S_{21}$ within the Satcom band. (c) $S_{11}$ . (d) $S_{22}$ .	82
5.6	Measured vs. simulated $S_{21}$ in all 4 notch states, with 15 % more capacitance at each notch.	83
5.7	Block diagram of the receiver chain containing design 2	84
A.1	Circuit for solving for the H-parameters of the notch transformer	95
B.1		97

# List of Tables

3.1	Definitions and values of the parameters used for the SNR calculation	26
3.2	Example calculation for the 5G blocker power	33
3.3	Parameters used for the self-interference estimation	35
3.4	LNA specifications.	39
4.1	Component values used in the matching trajectory of Figure 4.11	53
4.2	Initial calculated physical values for the inter-stage transformer	53
4.3	Values used to verify the second-stage model.	60
4.4	LNA specifications.	77

## Chapter 1

## Introduction

## 1.1 Motivation

The evolution of wireless communications infrastructure is a seemingly never-ending phenomenon in modern society. In 2009, the 4G Long Term Evolution (LTE) mobile communications standard was released. While 4G LTE technology has continued to develop since then, there has also been considerable development in the technologies for 5G millimeterwave communications and satellite communications [14][3].

### 1.1.1 Satellite and 5G Communications

Satellite communications (Satcom) allow for widespread internet connectivity across the world in both urban and rural areas. Companies such as SpaceX, Amazon, OneWeb, and Viasat are all major contenders in the field and are deploying networks to enable this technology [15]. Satellite communications involve three main components: 1) a constellation of satellites orbiting the planet, 2) a gateway network on the ground that serves data from fiber connections over the air to satellites, and 3) user terminals on the ground that receive and transmit user data. This architecture is illustrated in Figure 1.1. The Satcom downlink is when the satellite transmits data to the user and the user receives. The uplink is when the user transmits to the receiving satellite. Satcom systems often use frequency-division duplexing (FDD), meaning both the uplink and downlink are operational at the same time, but use separate carrier frequency bands [3].



Figure 1.1: Satellite communications architecture [1].

In addition to satellite communications, future wireless communications will include 5G millimeter-wave (mm-wave) infrastructure. 5G mm-wave communications will involve a large number of base-stations in urban environments with small cell sizes on the order of 100 meters [14]. These "micro-cells" allow for gigabit data speeds to users, despite the high free-space path loss at millimeter wave frequencies.

The frequencies used for Satcom and 5G in the lower mm-wave frequencies are shown in Figure 1.2. Ku-band satcom uses the 10.7 - 12.75 GHz for the downlink, and 14 - 14.5 GHz for uplink [16]. K/Ka-band satcom uses 17.7 - 21.2 GHz for the downlink and 27.5 - 31 GHz for the uplink [4][17]. One of the 5G bands is 24.25 - 29.5 GHz, which overlaps with the Satcom Ka uplink band and is close to the K-band Satcom dowlink frequencies [14].



Figure 1.2: Low-millimeter wave frequency bands for Satcom and 5G communications (axis not to scale)

### 1.1.2 Phased Array Antennas

The Satcom bands shown in Figure 1.2 have relatively high atmospheric attenuation, which is a problem due to the long distance that Satcom signals travel between the satellite and

user terminal. Figure 1.3 shows the atmospheric attenuation vs. frequency and how it increases with frequency. Furthermore, high frequency signals inherently experience higher free-space path loss (FSPL) due to their smaller wavelength, which is shown in (1.1), where r is the distance, f is the frequency, and c is the speed of light. Therefore, conventional single-antenna designs used in relatively lower frequency wireless communications such as in 4G LTE are not suitable for Satcom systems.

 $FSPL = \left(\frac{4\pi rf}{c}\right)^2$ 

(1.1)

$$(wyell of the term of te$$

Figure 1.3: Atmospheric attenuation vs. frequency [2].

To overcome the high free space path loss, Satcom systems employ phased array antennas. A phased array antenna is any collection of antennas where each antenna transmits or receives the same signal but at different phases. Each antenna of a phased array requires its own transmitter or receiver chain that includes gain control and phase shifting components. Figure 1.4 shows an example of a receive phased array employing an RF beamforming architecture, with Figure 1.4a showing the conceptual block diagram and Figure 1.4b showing an example array implementation. The block diagram shows how the array consists of a collection of elements, each connected to a receiver that has a gain stage, a phase shifter, and a variable attenuator. All of these paths are combined into an output signal, which is then connected to a demodulator (not shown). As shown in Figure 1.4b, an example implementation of this architecture is to use PCB-based patch antennas as the antenna elements, and beamformer integrated circuits (ICs) that contain the receiver chains. The phase shifter allows a different delay to be added to each path, which allows the direction of reception to be steered, known as "beam-steering."



Figure 1.4: A phased array receiver. (a). Conceptual block diagram. (b) An example phased array receiver [3].

Phased arrays overcome high free space path loss and atmospheric attenuation by way of power combining. In the receiver, when the signals from all the paths are combined, the signal adds constructively while the noise power, since it is uncorrelated between each path, stays the same at the output. Therefore, phased arrays see a N-fold factor increase in signal-to-noise (SNR) ratio compared to conventional antennas. The tradeoff is that as more elements are added to the array, the array becomes more directive. Conceptually, higher directivity means it is able to receive more radiation power, but the area in the farfield from which it receives that power becomes narrower (i.e. the beam becomes narrower) [18]. In order for the array to transmit or receive signals from multiple directions, it needs a phase shifter for each antenna element, which is often part of the beamformer ICs such as in Figure 1.4.

The high directivity of phased arrays make them suitable for millimeter wave communications. Since, as shown in Figure 1.4, phased arrays receiver require electronics for each array element, the design of the electronics and beamformers of phased arrays is an interesting problem. The design of these electronics is the topic of this thesis.

## **1.2** Problem Statement

With the improvements in silicon CMOS and SiGe technologies for radio-frequency (RF) and millimeter wave applications over the last two decades, it is becoming increasingly attractive to implement phased array beamformers using integrated circuits (ICs) manufactured with these processes. The high integration level, high yield, and low cost of silicon technologies allows for the mass production of low-cost phased array antennas for satellite communications (Satcom). Therefore, it is of utmost importance to explore the design of high-performance, low-cost silicon-based receiver beamformer ICs for satellite communication phased arrays.

In the future, it is expected that 5G millimeter wave base stations will serve high speed, high bandwidth data to users in urban areas. At the same time, satellite communications will also provide service to users worldwide, in both rural and urban areas. It is possible that strong 5G wireless signals can pose as a source of interference for Satcom receivers, which must receive a weak signal from a far-away satellite. Furthermore, in a realistic Satcom user terminal, a transmitter and a receiver are placed side by side and operate at the same time, leaving the possibility for the transmitter to also jam the receiver. Thus, a high-performance Satcom beamformer receiver must include resilience to these sources of interference.

The purpose of this work is to design a low-noise amplifier (LNA) for a Satcom user terminal beamformer receiver operating at 17.7 - 21.2 GHz. The LNA should include builtin filtering of out-of-band signals. The LNA will be designed in the GlobalFoundries 130nm (SiGe) Bipolar CMOS (BiCMOS) 8XP process. This process is a suitable technology for RF and millimeter wave ICs due to its high oscillation frequency ( $f_{max}$ ) of 320 GHz and low minimum noise figure [19]. The work includes novelty in that, to the author's best knowledge, there is no prior work on Satcom LNAs designed specifically to reject 5G signals. In addition, a novel circuit topology is introduced in the LNA to improve its out-of-band rejection. In brief, the purpose of this work is to demonstrate the feasibility of using silicon processes for the design of interference rejecting LNAs that can be used for Satcom receivers.

### **1.3** Thesis Organization

This thesis is organized as follows. Firstly, Chapter 2 presents a review of existing design techniques for LNAs, including filtering techniques. Chapter 3 focuses on the system

analysis for Satcom phased arrays and LNAs. This chapter derives the specifications for an LNA that is suitable for a Satcom receive phased array. It also includes and analysis of the power level of 5G interference sources and transmitter self-interference signals on the Satcom receiver. This analysis is used to derive specifications for the interference resiliency of the LNA. Next, Chapter 4 focuses on the design of two LNAs with out-of-band interference rejection. The first design includes rejection of both 5G wireless and Satcom self-interference sources. The second design only includes resiliency to self-interference. The design procedure of the amplifier and the simulation results are presented. Chapter 5 shows some measurement results of Design 1, but the results are inconclusive due to a circuit layout issue. Finally, chapter 6 provides concluding remarks and proposes some future work that can be done based on the work in this thesis.

## Chapter 2

## **Background and Literature Review**

This chapter presents a review of LNA design techniques in CMOS and SiGe processes. Common LNA topologies such as the common-source and cascode amplifier are reviewed. Next, existing filtering techniques for phased arrays and embedded LNA filters are reviewed.

## 2.1 LNA Design Without Filtering

Before reviewing filtering techniques, it is prudent to review typical LNA performance that can be achieved without filtering. The performance achieved by such LNAs, including out-of-band gain and linearity, can be used to estimate the amount of modification required to meet the filtering specifications derived in Section 3.2.8.

### 2.1.1 Common-source LNA

The simplest LNA topology is a common-source amplifier with inductive degeneration and a series inductor at the gate of the input transistor. Figure 2.1a shows the schematic of this topology. The small signal equivalent is of the amplifier is also shown in 2.1b.



(a) Common source LNA. (b) Small signal equivalent.

Figure 2.1: Common source LNA and its small signal equivalent circuit.

In the design of the common-source LNA, the transistor can be sized such that the real part of the optimal source impedance  $Z_{s-opt}$  is equal to the source impedance, 50  $\Omega$  [20, p. 443]. The input impedance of the LNA can be shown to be given by (2.1). The degeneration inductor,  $L_s$ , can be selected such that the real part of  $Z_{in}$  equals 50  $\Omega$ , while the gate inductor  $L_g$  can be selected to resonate with the capacitance  $C_{gs}$  at the intended center frequency of the LNA.

$$Z_{in} = \frac{1}{sC_{gs}} + sL_g + sL_s + g_m \frac{L_s}{C_{gs}}.$$
 (2.1)

Assuming ideal inductors, the voltage gain of the common source stage at the center frequency, when both the input and output impedances are at resonance, is given by (2.2), where  $R_p$  is the equivalent parallel resistance of the load and  $R_s$  is the signal source impedance [21, p. 204] For ideal inductors and capacitors,  $R_p = r_0$ , where  $r_0$  is the output resistance of the transistor due to channel-length modulation.

$$A_v = \left|\frac{v_{sig}}{v_{in}}\right| = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\omega_T}{\omega_0} \frac{R_p}{R_s}.$$
(2.2)

The single-transistor common-source LNA is the lowest noise topology for an LNA,

because the only noise sources are one transistor and the parasitic resistances of the passive components. The noise figure of the common-source topology is given by 2.3, where  $R_{source}$  represents the impedance of the source driving the LNA (typically 50  $\Omega$ ),  $\omega_0$  is the center frequency of the matching network, and  $\omega_T$  is the unity gain frequency of the transistor [21, p. 204].

$$F_{CS} = 1 + g_m R_{source} \gamma \left(\frac{\omega_0}{\omega_T}\right)^2.$$
(2.3)

The common-source topology has been successfully used to implement a K-band LNA in [22], where three such common-source stages were cascaded in a 45-nm silicon-on-insulator (SOI) process. The design achieved 23 dB of gain, a minimum of 1.6 dB noise figure in-band, and an IP<sub>1dB</sub> greater than -15 dBm from 24 - 30 GHz.

While [22] shows that the out-of-band linearity requirement derived in Section 3.2.8 can be satisfied with only common-source stages, a number of problems remain with the simple common-source design. For one, the out-of-band small-signal rejection is not sufficient to meet the specification. In [22], the amplifier only has 8 dB less gain at 24 GHz than at the center frequency. The low rejection indicates that an interference-rejecting LNA should use additional techniques in order to achieve both the linearity and small-signal rejection specifications.

Another problem with the common-source stage is that it can exhibit instability due to its inductive load and the feedback capacitance  $C_{gd}$ . Figure 2.2 shows the small signal equivalent of a common-source LNA including  $C_{gd}$ . Assuming  $L_s$  is small and  $Z_L$  is inductive  $(Z_L = sL_L)$ , the input impedance can be approximated as (2.4) [20, p. 406]. This equation shows that the input impedance of the CS LNA for small  $L_s$  is negative, which can lead to oscillations. Making  $L_s$  sufficiently large adds a real term to the input impedance, which stabilizes the effect of  $C_g d$ .

$$Z_{in} \approx \frac{-1}{\omega^2 g_m C_{gd} L_L}.$$
(2.4)



Figure 2.2: Small signal equivalent of a common-source LNA with  $C_{gd}$ .

### 2.1.2 Cascode LNA

Figure 2.3 shows the schematic of a cascode LNA. Similarly to the common source LNA, it uses a series inductor  $L_g$  and a degeneration inductor  $L_s$  to accomplish simultaneous noise and conjugate matching at the input. The amplifier consists of a common-source transistor  $M_1$ , and a common-gate, cascode transistor  $M_2$ . The parasitic capacitances at the drain of  $M_1$  are represented by an equivalent capacitance  $C_X$ , where  $C_X$  is approximately given by  $C_{gd1} + C_{db1} + C_{sb1} + C_{gs2}$ .



Figure 2.3: Cascode LNA schematic.

The noise figure of the cascode LNA is given by 2.5 [21]. Compared to 2.3, it is clear that the cascode transistor adds a second term to the noise figure. However, the advantage in using the cascode LNA is that it mitigates the effect of  $C_{gd1}$ , preventing a negative input resistance from arising due to the load of  $M_1$ .

$$F_{cas} = 1 + g_m R_{source} \gamma \left(\frac{\omega_0}{\omega_T}\right)^2 + \frac{\gamma}{g_{m2} R_{source}} \left(\frac{2L_g \omega_0}{g_{m2}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{1 + sr_{o1} C_X}{1 + s\frac{C_X}{g_{m2}}}\right)^2.$$
(2.5)

## 2.2 A Review of Out-of-Band Filtering Techniques

There are a number of filtering techniques that can be used for phased array receivers. Broadly speaking, these techniques can be classified as either passive or active. The passive techniques include off-chip filtering, single LC notches, multiple distributed LC notches, and transformer-based notches. The active techniques include using frequencydependent feedback networks and negative resistance generators. This section will review these techniques and the results that have been achieved with them in CMOS and BiCMOS technologies.

### 2.2.1 Passive Filtering Techniques

#### **Off-Chip Filtering**

One method of achieving out-of-band in a Satcom LNA is to implement the filtering on the printed circuit board (PCB) that contains the beamformer chips. In [4], the authors implemented a 1024-element K-band receive phased array for Satcom applications. The out-of-band filtering was achieved through the antenna matching network and a notch filter, both of which are implemented on the PCB. The block diagram of the antennas, LNAs, and one beamformer in the array is shown in Figure 2.4. The antenna and matching network were both implemented on the PCB. The LNAs were implemented on separate ICs, and were followed by a PCB-level LC notch filter. Finally, the 8 receive channels went into the beamformer inputs.



Figure 2.4: Block diagram of the beamformer and its connections from [4].

The filtering techniques used in [4] are highly effective at attenuating the transmit selfinterference at 27-30 GHz. The antenna response and matching network attenuate the blocker power of -20 dBm to -60 dBm, preventing the LNA from saturating. The filtering after the LNA gives an effective LNA gain of 7 dB at 27 GHz, leading to an out-of-band input power of -53 dBm at the input of the beamformer. Both the input powers are far from the out-of-band IP<sub>1dB</sub> points of the LNA and beamformer (-20 and -30 dBm respectively).

While the technique of filtering on the PCB adds sufficient resiliency to out-of-band blockers, it has some disadvantages. Firstly, the matching network on the PCB adds a loss

of about 1.2 dB, which directly impacts the noise figure of each receiver chain. Furthermore, this architecture requires a discrete LNA and a discrete beamformer in order to implement the on-PCB notch filter. Having separate ICs for the LNA increases component cost and complexity compared to a solution where the LNA and beamformer are integrated onto one die.

#### Single LC Notch

One simple technique for embedding filtering in an LNA on-chip is to add a single notch filter consisting of an inductor and a capacitor. For example, in [5], a shunt LC notch is placed at the drain of the common-source device of a cascode amplifier, as shown in Figure 2.5. The frequency of the notch is given by

$$\omega = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L_2(C_1 + C_2)}}.$$
(2.6)

Figure 2.5: Shunt LC notch used in [5]

The shunt LC notch shown in Figure 2.5 is suitable for narrow-band rejection of a blocker. In [5], it is used in a 5-GHz wireless local area network (WLAN) receiver as an image-rejection filter. As another example, it is used in [23] but in a differential topology, where the filter serves to reject the 1.77 GHz image of a 1.55 GHz signal.

[6] presents another topology that achieves a single notch in the frequency response. The topology is shown in Figure 2.6. The degeneration inductor of the cascode LNA stage is replaced with a transformer, where the secondary coil forms a resonator between  $L_2$  and  $C_{var}$ . Using a varactor as the resonator capacitor allows the notch frequency to be tuned. In [6], the notch was used as an image-reject filter for a 5-GHz receiver, and the tunability meant that the center frequency of the signal could be changed and the notch re-tuned to the new image frequency.



Figure 2.6: Degeneration Transformer LC notch used in [6]

A single notch can also be placed at the input of the LNA, as done in [7]. The conceptual schematic of the filtering LNA is shown in Figure 2.7. The parallel resonance of  $L_1$  and  $C_2$ forms a high impedance in the stop-band, which attenuates signals at the blocker frequency and results in low small-signal gain in the stop-band. The work in [7] achieved over 30 dB of small-signal rejection at 30 GHz, where the LNA was designed to amplify signals at 20 GHz. In addition, it showed tolerance to a blocker power of -13 dBm at 30 GHz without compromising in-band linearity.



Figure 2.7: Parallel LC notch used at the input of an amplifier, as in [7].

Single LC notches are a simple way of rejecting a blocker at a single frequency, which is why they were used for image rejection in [5], [6], and [23]. However, they are inherently narrow-band because the LC resonator only presents a short or open at one frequency. In addition, like with all passive notches, the amount of filtering rejection is limited by the low quality factor of on-chip spiral inductors, which is generally between 10 and 30 for modern CMOS processes with thick metal layers [20]. Also, the extra inductor increases the circuit area.

#### A 3-coil Inter-Stage Transformer Notch

The transformer-based notch presented in [6] can be used in other locations within an LNA besides the first-stage degeneration. In [8], the authors used a 3-coil inter-stage transformer to implement a notch filter in the inter-stage matching network of a 2-stage LNA designed in a 65-nm CMOS process. The LNA was designed to amplify Satcom signals from 10.7 - 12.7 GHz (Ku-band) and to attenuate the corresponding transmit band at 14 - 14.5 GHz. The LNA consists of two amplifier stages. The inter-stage matching of the LNA from is implemented using a 3-coil transformer. The schematic of the transformer is shown in Figure 2.8a. An approximate equivalent circuit of the 3-coil network is shown in Figure 2.8b, for which the component values are given by equations (2.7) - (2.10). The equivalent components  $L_{14}$  and  $C'_3$  form a series-parallel notch that blocks the first stage current from developing a voltage across the inter-stage transformer formed by  $L_{12}$  and  $L_2$ , causing a zero in the transfer function. The frequency of this notch is given by (2.11).



Figure 2.8: The 3-coil transformer from [8]. (a) Transformer schematic. (b) Equivalent circuit.

$$L_{14} = k_{13}^2 L_1. (2.7)$$

$$C_3' = \frac{L_3}{k_{13}^2 L_1} C_3. \tag{2.8}$$

$$L'_{12} = (1 - k_{13}^2)L_1. (2.9)$$

$$k_{12}'' = \frac{k_{12}}{1 - k_{13}^2}.$$
(2.10)

$$\omega_{notch} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L_{14}C_3'}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L_3C_3}}.$$
(2.11)

Since the 3-coil transformer-based notch is another type of single LC filtering technique, it suffers from the same aforementioned disadvantages. However, this technique has the advantage of being more compact with proper layout of the tertiary coil.

#### **Distributed Notch Filtering**

The single LC passive techniques described in the previous sections are narrow-band. One way to widen the bandwidth of the filtering is to simply add more notches in the circuit.

In [9], a 20 GHz Satcom LNA with out-of-band filtering at 27.5-31 GHz is designed. The schematic of the amplifier is shown in Figure 2.9. The filtering is achieved using 4 notches that are distributed throughout the 2-stage amplifier. The amplifier was implemented in a  $0.25\mu$ m SiGe BiCMOS process, and consumes 92 mW from a 2.5 V supply. The amplifier achieved over 30 dB of small signal rejection with respect to its peak gain in the stop-band of 27.5 - 31 GHz. Due to the distributed nature of the notches, the rejection is wideband, as the resonant frequency of each notch is tuned to a slightly different frequency within the stop-band.

The authors in [9] also compared the filtering LNA to a reference design without filtering. The addition of the filtering reduced the in-band gain by a 2-3 dB and increased the noise figure by 0.2 dB. This degradation in noise figure is mainly due to the additional loss caused by the two notches in the first stage. Furthermore, due to the presence of two notches within the first stage, one before the input transistor  $Q_1$  and another before the cascode transistor  $Q_2$ , the IP<sub>1dB</sub> of the filtering LNA is 20 dB higher than the non-filtering one. The out-of-band IP<sub>1dB</sub> in the LNA without filtering is already -10 dBm, exceeding the specification derived in Section 3.2.8, which can be attributed to the large devices chosen and their high power consumption.

Overall, the distributed notches as implemented in [9] illustrate the trade-off between

high rejection and noise figure, as well the trade-off between power consumption and linearity.



Figure 2.9: Schematic of the filtering LNA designed in [9].

Another example of distributed notch filtering is in [10], where a wideband 24-43 GHz LNA for 5G applications is designed with rejection at 10-15 GHz. The schematic of the LNA is shown in Figure 2.10. The LNA implements its out-of-band filtering with three shunt-series LC notches formed by the resonances of  $L_1$  with  $C_2$ ,  $L_2$  with  $C_4$ , and  $L_3$  with  $C_6$ . These resonances allow for greater than 60 dB of out-of-band small-signal rejection, and an out-of-band IIP<sub>3</sub> 20 dB greater than the in-band IIP<sub>3</sub>.

The LNA in [10] also illustrates a trade-off between out-of-band filtering and power consumption. The amplifier has 3 stages and 17-20 dB of gain, at a power consumption of 20.5 mW. However, a similar wideband LNA in the same CMOS process has been implemented with only 2 stages and 17 mW of power consumption, with approximately 1 dB lower noise figure [24]. The additional power consumption and higher noise figure in [10] can be attributed to the losses of the filtering elements.



Figure 2.10: Schematic of the wideband LNA in [10] that implements distributed notch filtering.

In summary, both examples in this section have shown that while distributed filtering can achieve high stop-band rejection, the trade-offs include power consumption, noise figure, and additional chip area.

### 2.2.2 Active Filtering Techniques

The on-chip passive filtering techniques shown in Section 2.2.1 are limited by the low quality factor (Q) of on-chip spiral inductors and transformers. Active techniques can be used to improve the effective quality factor of the notch and thus obtain a higher filtering rejection.

#### A Feedback Active Notch

One of the earliest occurrences of active filtering in a monolithic LNA is in [11], where an active notch and feedback are used to enhance the quality factor of a notch in a cascode LNA. The schematic of the active filter is shown in Figure 2.11a. The input impedance,  $Z_{in}$ , is given by (2.13)[11], where  $R_{ind}$  represents the parasitic series resistance of the inductor,  $r_b$  represents the parasitic base resistance,  $C_{\pi}$  is the base-emitter capacitance of  $Q_2$ , and  $g_{m2}$  is the small-signal transconductance of  $Q_2$ . The last term in (2.13) is negative, which

shows how the addition of  $Q_2$  can compensate for the resistances  $R_{ind}$  and  $r_b$  and effectively improve the Q of the notch.

The quality factor of the notch can further be improved by adding feedback. The concept of this feedback is shown in Figure 2.11b, for which the transfer function is given by

$$H(s) = \frac{v_{out}}{v_{in}} = \frac{1}{1 + B(s)}.$$
(2.12)

[11] shows that if the feedback transfer function, B(s), has a pole at  $\omega_0$ , the closed loop transfer function, H(s), has a very low gain at that frequency. This low gain results in a notch behaviour in H(s).

$$Z_{in} = j\omega L_2 + R_{ind} + \frac{1}{j\omega} \left( \frac{1}{C_{\pi}} + \frac{1}{C_1} \right) + r_b - \frac{g_{m2}}{\omega^2 C_{\pi} C_1}.$$
 (2.13)



Figure 2.11: Circuit topologies for the LNA with a feedback notch, introduced in [11]. (a) Active notch schematic. (b) Feedback notch block diagram. (c) LNA schematic with an active notch and feedback.

The feedback shown in Figure 2.11b was applied to the active notch in Figure 2.11a to improve its rejection, and embedded in an LNA. The resultant circuit is shown in Figure 2.11c [11]. The circuit topology can be thought of as an active version of the one in Figure

2.5, because the notch is an active shunt LC at the collector of  $Q_1$ , similar to the passive shunt LC at the drain of the common-source device in Figure 2.5.

The active feedback technique shown in Figure 2.11 has been used in numerous imagerejecting CMOS/SiGe receivers in the 2-5 GHz range [11][25][26]. The technique without feedback (i.e. Figure 2.11a only) was also applied to an ultra wideband receiver operating between 3.1 and 10.6 GHz in [27] as a means to reject WLAN blockers at 5 GHz.

The feedback topology in Figure 2.11c trades off filtering for noise figure, depending on the sizing and biasing of  $Q_3$ . It also increase power consumption due to the addition of  $Q_2$ . Finally, it must be carefully designed to avoid instability in the feedback loop.

#### An Inter-Stage Feedback Notch

The concept of using frequency-dependent feedback to introduce a notch into the transfer function can be extended to a multi-stage amplifier. In [12], LC feedback is added between two amplifier stages to achieve a notch response in a dual-band LNA. The schematic and performance of the amplifier are shown in Figure 2.12.

The LNA from [12] is designed for two pass-bands, at approximately 20 and 37 GHz. In between the two pass bands, the amplifier exhibits a notch at 28 GHz in order to reject 5G blockers from that band. The notch is achieved by the feed-forward path formed by  $L_2$  and  $C_2$  to  $Q_3$ , shown in the schematic in Figure 2.12a. The frequency of the zero is given by (2.14). At  $\omega_z$ , the load impedance seen from the collector of  $Q_3$  is small, leading to a low stop-band gain. This can alternatively be understood as the stop-band current feeding forward through  $L_2$  and  $C_2$  and supplying all the stop-band current that the transconductor of  $Q_3$  is sinking. As a result, no stop-band current flows through  $Q_4$ , leading to a low gain at the stop-band.

$$\omega_z = \sqrt{\frac{1}{L_2 + \frac{L_1 L_3}{L_1 + L_3} C_3}}.$$
(2.14)



Figure 2.12: Schematic and gain of the active feedforward notch LNA from [12]

The plot of the gain of the amplifier is shown in Figure 2.12b. The gain exhibits a sharp zero in the frequency response at the notch frequency, and a dual-band response otherwise. By changing the bias voltage of  $Q_3$ , gain and stop-band rejection can be traded off, shown by the red vs. blue curves in Figure 2.12b. While this feed-forward notch technique is able to achieve > 40 dB rejection at a pass band, it is relatively narrow-band. The stop-band current only cancels at one frequency at the collector of  $Q_3$ , leading to the narrow-band response. In addition, the additional components ( $L_2$  and  $C_2$ ) and routing needed to implement the feed-forward path increase the area cost of this solution.

#### **Cross-Coupled Differential Pair Negative Resistance**

The active notch technique shown in Figure 2.11a improves the quality factor of the notch by the negative resistance introduced by  $Q_2$ , as shown in (2.13). Another common technique of generating a negative resistance to improve notch quality factor that has been used in numerous works [8][5][23] is to use a cross-coupled differential pair. The generalized circuit schematic is shown in Figure 2.13. The cross coupled differential pair consisting of  $M_1$  and  $M_2$  form a positive feedback system with input resistance given by

$$R_{in} = -\frac{2}{g_m},\tag{2.15}$$

where  $g_m$  is the transconductance of  $M_1$  and  $M_2$ .



Figure 2.13: LC notch Q enhancement with a negative resistance generator.

One of the consequences of using negative resistance generators, including the crosscoupled differential pair as well as the topology in Figure 2.11a, is the increased power consumption due to the additional device. For example, in [8], the 3-coil transformerbased notch's quality factor is improved with a cross-coupled differential pair. As the current through the differential pair is increased, the negative resistance also increases, which sharpens the notch. This is an example of the trade-off presented by negative resistance generators, which is that more power can lead to a higher quality factor notch.

## 2.3 Summary of Filtering Techniques in Receivers

In this section, a number of filtering techniques used in LNAs and receivers were reviewed. Filtering on the PCB is an effective solution at improving out-of-band linearity of each receiver chain in the array, but suffers from additional loss and component cost[4].

Passive on-chip filters consisting of LC notches integrated into the LNA can achieve narrow-band out-of-band filtering limited by the quality factor of on-chip inductors. To widen the rejection band, notch filters can be distributed across a multi-stage amplifier. While passive techniques can provide adequate out-of-band filtering in an LNA, their downsides include lower gain and higher noise figure due to the extra losses. These disadvantages can somewhat be compensated by increasing power consumption or adding stages to the amplifier.

Active on-chip filtering has also been achieved. Active filtering generally relies on frequency-dependent feedback, or negative resistance generation. Active filtering can achieve higher stop-band rejection, but at the cost of more power consumption, as well as noise added due to extra devices. Additionally, the higher effective quality factor of active notches leads to a narrower-band notch compared to low-Q passive notches.

All notches show a trade off between out-of-band linearity and noise figure depending on where, in a multi-stage amplifier, the notch is placed. Notches at the input of the amplifier and in the first stage, such as in [9] and [7] improve out-of-band linearity more than those in later stages of the amplifier. Lastly, all the techniques presented in this chapter increase chip area by adding inductors.

## Chapter 3

## System Analysis

This chapter presents the system analysis for a Satcom receive phased array operating between 17.7 and 21.2 GHz. The goal of this chapter is to derive the specifications required for the LNA in an interference-rejecting phased array receiver. The system model is presented, which is used to calculate the maximum achievable signal to noise ratio (SNR) given the specifications of the beamformer receiver. The system model is used to choose suitable specifications for the gain, noise figure, and linearity of the LNA. Keysight SystemVue<sup>TM</sup> is used to implement the system model and determine the required gain flatness of the LNA. Finally, the interference power from both 5G base stations and the Satcom transmitter self-interference is calculated, which is used to determine the out-of-band linearity specification of the LNA.

## 3.1 System Modelling

Figure 3.1 shows the block diagram of the system model of the phased array. It consists of an incoming signal with a certain power density and sky temperature. The phased array is modelled as N antennas, each of which is connected to a receiver consisting of an LNA, a phase shifter, and a gain control block. This 3-component receiver is modelled as having a gain G, a noise figure F, and a ambient temperature  $T_0$ . The signal from each receiver is combined using an N:1 Wilkinson power combiner. After combination, the signal SNR is given by  $SNR_{out}$ .


Figure 3.1: Block diagram of the phased array system model.

Figure 3.1 also shows that the assumed sky noise temperature  $T_{sky}$  is 30K. This is based on the study conducted in [28], which showed that between an elevation angle of  $0^{\circ}$  and  $65^{\circ}$ , the maximum sky noise temperature seen by the array is approximately 30K. It is assumed that the receive array will only scan to  $65^{\circ}$  because that is a typical maximum scan angle achieved in real phased arrays before there is significant degradation in gain and grating lobe levels [4].

Furthermore, Figure 3.1 shows that the assumed power density of the incoming signal is -115  $dB \frac{W}{m^2 M Hz}$ , which is a regulation adopted by the International Telecommunications Union (ITU) and the United States Federal Communications Commission (FCC) in order to regulate the amount of interference caused by non-geostationary satellite down-link signals seen by receivers of geostationary signals [29].

The number of elements required for the receive phased array can be derived from the typical beamwidth of a Satcom signal. According to the ITU, a typical downlink 3-dB beamwidth of a Satcom system is  $1.6^{\circ}$  [30]. The 3-dB beamwidth of an array decreases with an increasing number of elements, so this specification allows for the calculation of the minimum number of elements required for the array. From [18], the beamwidth of a square phased array is given by (3.1), where L represents the length of the array, and the physical area of the array is LxL.

beamwidth = 
$$\frac{0.886\lambda}{L}$$
rad. (3.1)

Assuming  $\frac{\lambda}{2}$  spacing to minimize grating lobes [18], we can set  $L = n \frac{\lambda}{2}$  where the array is a square array of n by n elements. After those substitutions and converting to degrees, the beamwidth can be expressed in terms of n as in (3.2).

beamwidth = 
$$\frac{101.5}{n}$$
 degrees. (3.2)

Substituting a beamwidth of  $1.6^{\circ}$  and solving for n in (3.2) gives an n of 64. Therefore, in order to satisfy the beamwidth requirement of a typical Satcom downlink beam, the receive array should consist of 4096 (64 by 64) elements. With the number of elements known, it is possible to estimate the SNR of the signal after demodulation at the array output using the model in Figure 3.1.

The additional parameters' values shown in Figure 3.1 are defined in Table 3.1. The element gain  $G_e$  of 4 dB and the feed loss  $L_f$  of 0.5 dB are chosen based on recent work in phased array antennas employing patch antennas PCBs at frequencies between 10 and 30 GHz [4][13][31][32][33]. Beamformers and LNAs operating between 10 and 30 GHz with noise figures between 1.8 and 4 dB have been reported in previous works using modern CMOS and SiGe technologies [3][4][14][24][34][35]. Therefore, a noise figure of 3 dB is chosen for the SNR calculation, as shown in Table 3.1. Finally, a signal bandwidth of 100 MHz is assumed based on example satellite system characteristics provided by the ITU [30].

Symbol	Description	Value
$P_D$	EPFD	$-115 \text{ dB}\left(\frac{\text{W}}{\text{m}^2 \cdot \text{MHz}}\right)$
$G_e$	Antenna element gain	4 dB
$L_f$	Antenna feed loss	0.5 dB
F	Beamformer channel noise figure	3 dB
B	Bandwidth	100 MHz
$T_0$	Array ambient temperature	290 K
N	Number of Elements	4096

Table 3.1: Definitions and values of the parameters used for the SNR calculation.

The system block digram shown in Figure 3.1 is similar to that in [36], except there is no additional loss modelled due to tapering of the array. The expression for the SNR at the output of array is given by [36] as

$$SNR_{out} = \frac{NS_i}{kTB},\tag{3.3}$$

where  $S_i$  is the input power to one antenna element, B is the bandwidth of the signal, and T is the noise temperature of the array, given in [36] as

$$T = T_{sky} + T_0 \left( L_f F - 1 \right). \tag{3.4}$$

The input power to one antenna element can be calculated by multiplying the input power density  $S_{dens}$  by the effective aperture area  $A_e[37][p. 665]$ :

$$S_i = A_e S_{dens}.$$
(3.5)

The aperture area is dependent on the antenna gain and is given by [37][p. 666] as

$$A_e = \frac{G_e \lambda^2}{4\pi}.\tag{3.6}$$

The input power density can be calculated by multiplying the EPFD  $P_D$  (in  $\frac{W}{m^2Hz}$ ) by the signal bandwidth, by the definition of EPFD [29]:

$$S_{dens} = P_D B. \tag{3.7}$$

Combining (3.3) - (3.7) gives the expression for the SNR at the output of the array in terms of the parameters illustrated in Figure 3.1:

$$SNR_{out} = \frac{NP_D G_e \lambda^2}{4\pi k \left(T_{sky} + T_0 \left(L_f F - 1\right)\right)}.$$
(3.8)

Substituting in the values from Table 3.1 into (3.8) gives an output SNR of 20.35 dB. This SNR is sufficient to demodulate digitally modulated signals using constellations such as QPSK, 16-QAM, and 16-APSK [38]

(3.8) shows that the SNR improves by increasing the number of elements, reducing the feed loss, and reducing the noise figure of the beamformer. Since the number of elements is already determined from the beamwidth calculation, the only way to improve the SNR is to reduce the feed loss and the noise figure. However, the feed loss and noise figure will be limited by the PCB and beamformer integrated circuit fabrication technologies, respectively. Therefore, if the values assumed in Table 3.1 are reasonable, then the SNR cannot be much better than 20.35 dB.

A limitation of the calculation in this section is that it does not take into account the noise added due to Ohmic losses in the combining network. This loss depends on the PCB technology used and any buffer amplifiers that are added to the feed network, so it cannot

be estimated without specific knowledge of the array implementation. To compensate this loss, generally the beamformer should have a high gain greater than 25 dB, as in multiple previous works [3][4][14][17][39].

# **3.2** Component Level Specifications

The system model defined in Section 3.1 can be used to determine component level specifications of the LNA for the interference-rejecting phased array receiver. Specifically, this section will discuss the required gain, noise figure, gain flatness, and linearity of the LNA.

# 3.2.1 Gain and Small-Signal Rejection

In general, the gain of the LNA should be high enough to compensate the loss or higher noise figure of subsequent blocks to keep the overall gain and noise figure of the receiver within the desired specification. As mentioned in Section 3.1, a beamformer receiver typically needs a gain greater than 25 dB to compensate for Ohmic losses on the PCB and combining network. Without knowing the exact gain specifications of the blocks following the LNA, it is prudent to assume that the majority of that gain should come from the LNA. Therefore, a gain greater than 25 dB is targeted.

An additional specification for out-of-band small signal rejection of 20 dB is added, meaning that the gain out of band should be 20 dB less than the in-band gain. This rejection helps to prevent the saturation of subsequent blocks in the receiver.

# 3.2.2 Noise Figure

In Section 3.1, a noise figure of 3 dB was assumed for the receiver, which allowed for 20 dB output SNR. It is expected that the addition of the phase shifter and gain control will degrade the chain noise figure, so the LNA noise figure should be lower than that targeted for the chain. Therefore, the targeted noise figure is selected to be less than 2.5 dB.

# 3.2.3 Gain Flatness

When receiving a signal with a high modulation bandwidth, the frequency response, in particular, the gain flatness, of the beamformer can affect the SNR of the system. This

section presents simulation results that are used to determine a specification for the 3-dB bandwidth of the beamformer.

Figure 3.2 shows example curves of a beamformer's frequency response for different 3-dB bandwidths. In this figure, the gain was assumed to be quadratic over frequency, peaking at a  $G_0$  of 30 dB at a center frequency  $f_c$  of 19.5 GHz and reaching 27 dB at  $f_c \pm \frac{BW_{3dB}}{2}$ . Figure 3.2 also shows an example signal bandwidth between 17.7 and 17.95 GHz, which would correspond to a 250 MHz signal at the edge of the Satcom band. The figure shows that for a low 3-dB bandwidth, the gain for this signal would be lower, and there would be more in-band distortion due to the steeper slope vs. frequency. These effects will degrade the SNR.



Figure 3.2: Frequency response of a beamformer with different 3-dB BWs.

The effect of the beamformer gain flatness on the output SNR of the array was investigated by simulating the array model of Figure 3.1 in Keysight SystemVue<sup>TM</sup>. A 16-QAM constellation was used as the test signal for the array.

First, the array was simulated without any gain variation of the LNA over frequency. The simulated spectrum and constellation of the receiver are shown in Figures 3.3a and 3.3b, respectively. The SNR of the demodulated signal is given by SystemVue as 20.3 dB, which matches the 20.35 dB SNR calculated in Section 3.1. The match in results

shows that the SystemVue simulation model can be relied upon for other simulations of the array's performance.



Figure 3.3: Modulated signal simulation results. (a) Spectrum of the modulated signal at the output of the simulated array. (b) Constellation of the demodulated output of the simulated array.

With the SystemVue model validated, it was then used to simulate the effect of gain flatness on the output SNR. The simulation was conducted for 50, 100, and 250-MHz signal bandwidths, where the carrier frequency was chosen to be 17.7 GHz +  $\frac{BW_{signal}}{2}$  in each case. Figure 3.4 shows the results of the simulations. Figure 3.4a shows the output SNR of the array vs. beamformer 3-dB bandwidth, while Figure 3.4b shows the same data vs. gain flatness at 17.7 GHz. As expected, the effect of 3-dB bandwidth on the SNR of narrow-band signals is small, as the SNR stays relatively unchanged for the 50-MHz signal. However, for the 100-MHz and 250-MHz signals, narrow beamformer bandwidth degrades the SNR more. To support 250-MHz modulation bandwidths, the beamformer should have a gain flatness of better than 2 dB/GHz.



Figure 3.4: Effect of beamformer frequency response on array output SNR with a 16-QAM signal of varying bandwidths. (a) SNR vs beamformer 3-dB bandwidth. (b) SNR vs gain flatness at 17.7 GHz.

# 3.2.4 LNA Linearity

There are a number of considerations to be made for the linearity requirement of a Satcom receive beamformer. Firstly, the receiver must be able to receive the in-band signal without any compression. It will be shown in this section that the in-band Satcom signal is very weak, so the in-band linearity requirement is not very stringent. The more important consideration to make is the level of interference the receiver sees. As explained in Chapter 1, both 5G signals and the self-interference of the nearby transmitter can be sources of interference for the sensitive Satcom receiver. This section will calculate the beamformer linearity required to withstand these interference.

#### **In-band Linearity**

By combining (3.5)-(3.7), the power at the input of the receiver can be calculated from the incident power density and the aperture area of a single antenna element as

$$S_i = \frac{P_D B G_e \lambda^2}{4\pi}.$$
(3.9)

Substituting the values in Table 3.1 into (3.9) gives an input power  $S_i$  of -108.5 dBm.

This power level is many orders of magnitude lower than typically reported IP<sub>1dB</sub> vaules for K/Ka-band LNAs in SiGe and CMOS, which typically range between -35 and -15 dBm [24][34][35]. Therefore, an in-band IP<sub>1dB</sub> of greater than -40 dBm is targeted.

Another measure of linearity for LNAs is the input third-order intermodulation intercept point (IIP<sub>3</sub>). Typically, this value is expected to be about 10 dB higher than the IP<sub>1dB</sub> [21]. Therefore, an in-band IIP<sub>3</sub> of -30 dBm is targeted.

#### **5G Blockers**

One source of intereference that a Satcom receiver may experience is 5G wireless signals from relatively close and high-power base stations. 5G millimeter-wave systems will have cell sizes on the order of hundreds of meters, meaning the base station could be close to to a Satcom receiver and pose a significant threat of saturating the receiver [14]. This section shows the calculation for the blocker power and required out-of-band linearity of the receiver.

The blocker power, in dBm, at the input of the receiver can be calculated as in (3.10), where  $L_{path}$  is given by (3.11). These equations are based on the link budget equations in [37][p. 674]. They show that the blocker power depends on the frequency-dependent parameters  $L_{path}$  and  $G_{ant}$ .

$$P_{block,in}[dBm] = EIRP_{BS} + 10log(\frac{BW}{100 \text{ MHz}}) - L_{path} + G_{ant} + PAPR.$$
(3.10)

$$L_{path} = 20\log\left(\frac{4\pi d}{\lambda}\right). \tag{3.11}$$

The values used to evaluate the 5G blocker power in (3.10) are shown in Table 3.2. The frequency-dependent antenna gain  $G_{ant}$  used in the calculation is shown in Figure 3.5a, which is the response of the patch antenna designed in [13].

The calculated blocker power from evaluating (3.10) is shown in Figure 3.5. With a 100-MHz signal bandwidth, the blocker power can as high as -19 dBm at 25 GHz. At higher frequencies, due to the lower antenna gain and higher path loss, the blocker power is less, dropping to only -40 dBm at 30 GHz. Therefore, the receiver's linearity in the case of a 5G blocker event is the most important at 24-26 GHz, where it must tolerate up to -19

Parameter	Description	Value
d	Distance from base station to Rx array (m)	100 [14]
$EIRP_{BS}$	Base station average EIRP $(dBm/100 \text{ MHz})$	75 [40]
BW	Signal Bandwidth (MHz)	100 [41]
G <sub>ant</sub>	OOB Rx boresight gain (dB)	See Figure 3.5a.
PAPR	Blocker peak-average power ratio	6 dB [14]

Table 3.2: Example calculation for the 5G blocker power.

dBm in blocker power. To have some margin, a the LNA's  $IP_{1dB}$  is targeted to be greater than -16 dBm between 24 and 26 GHz.



Figure 3.5: (a) Patch antenna gain over frequency from [13] as well (b) the calculated 5G blocker power over frequency.

#### Satcom Transmitter Self-Interference

The other main source of interference for the Satcom receiver is the coupled signal from a nearby Satcom transmitter operating at 27 - 30 GHz. Typically, in Satcom solutions, a receive and transmit array are placed side-by-side and treated as one full product. The close proximity of the transmitter to the receiver means that the high output power of the transmitter can couple to the receiver and jam it, causing distortion in the desired downlink signal. Therefore, the receiver must have enough out-of-band linearity to tolerate this potential jammer.



Figure 3.6: Relative positions of two 4096-element transmitter and receiver arrays separated by 10cm.

The coupling between the transmitter (Tx) and receiver (Rx) can be estimated by assuming the size and relative position of each array, and then calculating the distance that a plane wave from each Tx element must travel to a given Rx element. This distance can be used to calculate the magnitude and phase of the plane wave due to each Tx element at the given Rx element. When summed together, it gives the Tx to Rx coupling for one element.

Figure 3.6 shows an example positioning of side-by-side transmitter and receiver arrays. Both arrays are 4096-element arrays with  $\frac{\lambda}{2}$  spacing between elements, where the frequency of  $\lambda$  is 27.5 GHz for the transmitter and 20 GHz for the receiver. The  $\frac{\lambda}{2}$  spacing is chosen to avoid grating lobes in the array pattern [18]. The arrays are separated by  $10\lambda_{tx}$ , which is approximately 10 cm.

The over-the-air coupling from all the Tx elements to one Rx element is estimated as follows. First, assume that all the Rx elements are far away enough from each Tx element such that the the far field assumption can be made on the radiation of a single Tx element. Then, the electric field appearing at the j-th Rx element due to the i-th Tx element is proportional to  $B_{ij}$ , given in (3.12), which is the electric field of an isotropic radiator [42]. In (3.12),  $r_{ij}$  is the magnitude of the distance between the i-th Tx and j-th Rx elements, while  $k = \frac{2\pi f_{tx}}{c}$  is the wavenumber at the Tx frequency, where  $f_{tx}$  is 27.5 GHz and c is the speed of light in free space. The term is also multiplied by a weighting factor  $w_i$ , which represents the complex weight applied for beam steering.  $w_i$  is given in (3.13), where  $\theta$  and  $\phi$  represent the steering direction and  $(x_i, y_i)$  is the position of the i-th Tx element [18].

$$B_{ij} = \frac{e^{jkr_{ij}}}{4\pi r_{ij}} w_i \tag{3.12}$$

$$w_i = e^{jksin\theta(x_i\cos\phi + y_i\sin\phi)} \tag{3.13}$$

Then, the total power coupled to one Rx element is the summation over all the Tx elements, given in (3.14). In (3.14),  $P_{out}$  is the power radiated by one Tx element. It is assumed that this power is the same for every element in the transmit array.  $G_{tx,90}$  is the gain of the Tx patch antenna at  $\theta = 90^{\circ}$  at  $f_{tx}$  and  $G_{rx,90}$  is the cross-polarization gain of the Rx patch antenna at  $\theta = 90^{\circ}$  at  $f_{tx}$ . Cross-polarization gain is used for the Rx patch gain as satcom transmitters and receivers often operate at different polarizations [3].

$$P_{j} = P_{out}G_{tx,90}G_{rx,90} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{N_{tx}} B_{ij}\right)^{2}$$
(3.14)

(3.14) is evaluated for the geometry in Figure 3.6, using the values in Table 3.3. The output power of 10 dBm is chosen based on previously reported output 1-dB compression points for Ka-band Satcom phased array beamformers [17][43]. To calculate the worst-case coupling, the transmitter is steered to  $\theta = 65^{\circ}$ , which is a practical maximum steering angle of a Satcom transmit array [17]. The patch antenna gains at 90° of -10 dB for the Tx and -45 dB for the Rx were chosen based on simulations of a patch antenna simulated in Ansys HFSS<sup>TM</sup> using the Antenna Toolkit [44]. The heatmap and histogram of the power received at each Rx element is shown in Figure 3.7. The maximum received power by a given receiver element is approximately -21 dBm.

Table 3.3: Parameters used for the self-interference estimation.

$G_{tx,90}$	$G_{rx,90}$	$P_{out}$	$f_{tx}$	$f_{rx}$	$\theta$	$\phi$
-10 dB	-45  dB	10  dBm	28 GHz	$20 \mathrm{~GHz}$	65	0



Figure 3.7: Results of the coupling calculation. (a) Heatmap of received power at 28 GHz. (b). Histogram of received power.

Therefore, the blocker power due to the transmitter is approximately -21 dBm. For some margin, the  $IP_{1dB}$  of the Satcom is targeted to be greater than -18 dBm in the 27-30 GHz Satcom uplink band.

# 3.2.5 Input and Output Return Losses

Since the LNA is designed for Satcom applications, it should be well-matched to an external feed line of an antenna on a phased array PCB, which is typically designed for a 50  $\Omega$  input impedance. Therefore, an input return loss of lower than -10 dB is targeted. For the output matching, even though in a receiver, the blocks after the LNA may not have 50  $\Omega$  input impedances, the LNA should still be compatible with measurement equipment in order to be tested in isolation. Measurement equipment such as wafer probes, RF cables, and VNAs are typically matched to 50  $\Omega$  as well, so an output return loss of -10 dB is also targeted.

# **3.2.6** Power Consumption

Generally, Satcom beamformer ICs require low power consumption because hundreds to thousands of ICs are placed on a single array with thousands of elements. The LNA's power consumption must be reasonable compared to a typical beamformer IC. Recently reported beamformers in the K-band frequency in CMOS and SiGe technologies have had DC power consumptions between 30 and 70 mW per channel [45][3][4][46]. In addition to the LNA, these reported receivers also contained phase shifters, variable-gain amplifiers, digital control circuits, and analog blocks for power management, meaning the LNA consumes a fraction of that reported power. As a conservative estimate, the LNA DC power consumption is targeted to be 15 mW.

# 3.2.7 Chip Area

The chip area for a beamformer IC is limited by the space on the phased array PCB for each IC. A typical phased array may use  $\frac{\lambda}{2}$  spacing between elements in a rectangular lattice to avoid grating lobes in the antenna pattern [18]. At 20 GHz, the wavelength  $\lambda$  is 15 mm, giving 7.5 mm between antenna elements. Since some satellite constellations use circularly-polarized signals, each antenna feeds two receiver channels.

One way to symmetrically route these feeds on the PCB is to have an 8-channel beamformer IC for a 2 by 2 dual-polarized antenna element tile [17][13][45]. The beamformer chip floorplan for this tiling style is shown in Figure 3.8. This tiling means each 8-channel beamformer must fit in a 7.5 by 7.5 mm space. Leaving 1 mm of space on each side of the IC for extra routing and packaging, the die size could be 5.5 by 5.5 mm.

Based on the floorplan in Figure 3.8, a suitable area for each receiver channel is approximately 2.5 mm (horizontal) by 1 mm (vertical). As shown in Figure 3.1, the receiver channel needs, at the very least, an LNA, a phase shifter, and a gain control block. The LNA should be allocated a significant portion of this area since it determines the overall receiver noise figure. Therefore, an LNA chip area of less than 1 mm by 1 mm is targeted.



Figure 3.8: Example floorplan of an 8-channel beamformer for a 2 by 2 dual-polarized phased array tile (not to scale).

# 3.2.8 Summary of Specifications

Table 3.4 summarizes the targeted specifications of the LNA based on the system analysis performed in this chapter. In the subsequent chapters, the LNAs that are designed will target these specifications.

Specification	Value	
Frequency	17.7 - 21.2 GHz	
Gain	> 25  dB	
Small-signal rejection at 24-30 GHz	> 20  dB	
Noise Figure	< 2.5  dB	
Gain flatness	< 3  dB/GHz between 17.7 and 21.2 GHz	
$IP_{1dB}$ in-band	> -40 dBm	
$IIP_3$ in-band	> -30 dBm	
$IP_{1dB}$ at 24-26 GHz	> -16 dBm	
$IP_{1dB}$ at 27-30 GHz	> -18 dBm	
Input Return Loss in-band	< -10 dB	
Output Return Loss in-band	< -10 dB	
DC Power Consumption	< 15  mW	
Small-signal rejection at 24-30 GHz	> 20  dB	
Chip Area	< 1 mm x 1 mm	

Table 3.4: LNA specifications.

# Chapter 4

# Interference-Rejecting LNA Design

This chapter addresses the design of two interference-rejecting LNAs for the purposes of improving the tolerance of a satellite communication beamformer to out-of-band interferers. The first LNA (Design 1) is designed to meet the specification for rejecting interference from both 5G wireless signals and Satcom self-interference. The second LNA (Design 2) is designed for an alternative use case, where it only needs to reject Satcom self-interference. Both LNAs are designed and simulated using the GlobalFoundries 8XP 130nm SiGe BiC-MOS process [47]. Section 4.1 presents the design and simulation results of LNA 1, while Section 4.2 presents the second LNA. The performance of each LNA is summarized and compared to the target specifications in Section 4.3.

# 4.1 Design 1: A Single-Ended LNA with 5G and Satcom Self-Interference Rejection

This section will present the first filtering LNA that was designed in this work. The circuit topologies that were used in this LNA borrow from the filtering techniques that were presented in Section 2.2. The schematic of the LNA that implements 24-30 GHz filtering is shown in Figure 4.1.



Figure 4.1: Schematic of the LNA Design 1 with 24-30 GHz filtering designed in this work.

The LNA in Figure 4.1 consists of two cascode stages. Each stage is biased with large 10 k $\Omega$  resistors connected to a pad, where a voltage bias is applied. The input matching uses transformer-feedback matching, implemented with the coupled inductors  $L_b$  and  $L_e$  [48]. The input is also protected from electro-static discharge (ESD) with diodes  $D_1$  and  $D_2$ . The inter-stage matching uses the 3-coil transformer matching technique introduced in [8], which introduces one notch into the frequency response of the amplifier. The second stage adds a second notch from the transformer consisting of  $L_{e2}$  and  $L_{c2}$ , as well as the capacitor  $C_n$ . The output matching is a simple one-section LC network consisting of  $L_{out}$  and  $C_{out}$ . Also, both of the notches are controlled by NMOS switches  $(M_{sw})$  that are controlled by voltages  $v_{n1}$  and  $v_{n2}$  respectively. In the following sections, the analysis and design of each part of the amplifier will be elaborated upon.

## 4.1.1 Transistor Sizing, Bias, and Layout

One of the most important steps of the design process of any LNA is the design of the transistor cores of each stage. Of particular interest is the design of the first stage, as it limits the minimum noise figure of the amplifier. First, the transistor's emitter length is sized such that the real part of the optimal source impedance,  $Z_s$  is 50  $\Omega$ . Then, the bias current of the cascode transistor core is chosen to a value that minimizes the minimum noise figure,  $NF_{min}$  of the cascode stage. Finally, the layout of the cascode stage is carefully performed to minimize the parasitic resistances and capacitances that degrade the noise figure and gain of the stage.

#### First-Stage Device Size

Unlike CMOS transistors, with SiGe HBTs the optimal bias for minimum noise and optimal emitter area for simultaneous noise and conjugate matching depends on whether there is a cascode transistor and whether there is inductive degeneration [20, p. 247]. Therefore, in order to characterize the performance of the transistor in simulation, the cascode transistor is included and its emitter length is swept with the common-emitter transistor. A 100-pH inductive degeneration is added in this simulation to estimate the effects of inductive degeneration. The schematic of this simulation bench is shown in Figure 4.2. In this testbench, P1 and P2 represent s-parameter simulation ports. Both the input and output of the cascode transistor core are biased with ideal bias-T's consisting of ideal DC blocking capacitors and ideal DC feeding inductors provided available in Cadence Virtuoso<sup>TM</sup> for the Spectre<sup>TM</sup> circuit simulator.



Figure 4.2: Schematic that was simulated to determine the optimal first-stage emitter length. Both devices have the same emitter area, and have a constant emitter width of  $0.12 \ \mu m$ .

Using the simulation setup from Figure 4.2, the optimal noise source impedance,  $Z_{opt}$ , versus the emitter length of  $Q_1$  and  $Q_2$  is simulated. Both  $Q_1$  and  $Q_2$  have the same emitter area, with a constant width of 0.12  $\mu$ m. The plot of  $Z_{opt}$  verus the emitter length is plotted on the Smith chart in Figure 4.3.

In order to achieve simultaneous noise and conjugate matching, the emitter length of the first stage devices should be chosen such that  $\operatorname{Re}(Z_{opt})$  is 50  $\Omega$ , where  $Z_{opt}$  is the optimal source impedance for lowest noise figure. Figure 4.3 shows that  $\operatorname{Re}(Z_{opt})$  is 50  $\Omega$  when the emitter length is about 30  $\mu$ m. However, as will be explained in Section 4.1.1, the layout of the transistor adds parasitics that change the optimal noise impedance. Therefore, after layout and optimization, the final emitter length was selected as 32  $\mu$ m, consisting of four unit transistors with 8  $\mu$ m emitter lengths.



Figure 4.3: Smith Chart plot of the change in  $Z_{opt}$  with the emitter length of  $Q_1$  and  $Q_2$  at 20 GHz.

#### Biasing

The bias for the first stage is chosen to minimize the noise figure of the stage. Figure 4.4 shows the plot of NF<sub>min</sub> versus the bias current of the  $32 \times 0.12 \mu m^2$  cascode input stage. It shows that the minimum noise figure of 1.2 dB is achieved at a bias of 0.36 mA/ $\mu$ m, which corresponds to 11.52 mA for an emitter length of 32  $\mu$ m. With a 1.8 V supply voltage, this leads to over 20 mW of DC power consumption, which is above the target of under

15 mW. In order to achieve a lower power consumption, the LNA was biased at 5.64 mA instead, which results in a 0.1 dB degradation in noise figure but saves 10.5 mW of DC power consumption. This bias results in a first-stage DC power consumption of 10.15 mW.

With the first stage already consuming 10.15 mW to minimize noise figure, less than 5 mW out of the 15 mW power budget remain for the second stage. Therefore, smaller devices of emitter area 4x0.12  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> were chosen. To improve the smaller devices' linearity, they were biased at 2 mA, which corresponds to 0.5 mA/ $\mu$ m. This bias point is closer to the peak-fT bias point of the technology, which results in a higher linearity and gain [20, p. 401]. In addition, the smaller devices have lower collector-base parasitic capacitance  $(C_{\mu})$ , which, as will be shown in Section 4.1.4, leads to a better second-stage filtering response.



Figure 4.4: Minimum noise figure at 20 GHz vs. current density (in mA per micron of emitter length) for a cascode stage consisting of HBTs with  $32 \times 0.12 \mu m^2$  emitter area.

#### **Transistor Layout**

With the transistors' emitter areas and bias currents chosen, the first-stage transistor core can be laid out. Overall, there were two goals in the layout of the first stage transistor in order to maximize the performance of the stage: 1) minimize the parasitic resistance to the base of the common-emitter transistor to reduce the noise figure, and 2) minimize the feedback capacitance  $C_{\mu}$  to maximize the gain of the stage.

The layout of the stage is shown in Figure 4.5. The 32x0.12  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> transistor is implemented using four 8x0.12  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> HBTs that are placed side-by-side. The cascode transistor,  $Q_2$ , is placed right next to  $Q_1$  for compact area and low interconnect parasitics.  $Q_2$  consists of the same number of 8x0.12  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> unit HBTs. To minimize the parasitic resistance to the base of  $Q_1$  the bases are connected together in the middle copper layer, MQ, as defined in the metal stackup in Figure 4.5a.



Figure 4.5: First-stage active core layout. (a) Metal stack-up of the GlobalFoundries 8XP process. AM and LY are thick aluminium layers for interconnects and RF passives, while the other layers are copper. (b). Layout images of the first stage transistor core.

To minimize the parasitic feedback capacitance  $C_{\mu}$  and  $C_{\pi}$  of  $Q_1$ , care is taken to only stack the minimum number of metals on the collector and emitter stripes. Using fewer metal layers reduces the fringing capacitances of adjacent metals, but enough layers must be stacked to satisfy electromigration rules at 100°C; too few metals can reduce the reliability of the transistor to carry its bias current over its operational lifetime.

Finally, the parasitics of the laid-out transistor are extracted using EMX, which is an electromagnetic (EM) simulator. The performance of the transistor is simulated again

using the bench in Figure 4.2 to determine the  $NF_{min}$  and the frequency at which  $\text{Re}(Z_{opt})$ is 50  $\Omega$ . The extracted parasitics changed the performance the transistor, so the emitter length was changed and the process of layout and extraction was repeated until  $\text{Re}(Z_{opt})$ was 50  $\Omega$  at 20 GHz. The final emitter length of  $Q_1$  and  $Q_2$  after this optimization process was 32  $\mu$ m.

## 4.1.2 Input Matching Network

As shown in Figure 4.1, the input matching consists of a feedback transformer formed by the coupling of  $L_b$  and  $L_e$ . This feedback is presented an analyzed in detail in [48]. It is shown that the input impedance of the amplifier is approximately given by (4.1), where  $g_m$ refers to the transconductance of the input device  $Q_1$ ,  $n = \sqrt{\frac{L_b}{L_e}}$  is the turns ratio, and k is the coupling factor. Since all the terms are ideally frequency-independent, it shows that the input match is ideally wideband. Realistically, the transformer has parasitic capacitances that change the effective inductances and coupling of the coils over frequency, restricting the bandwidth of the match.

$$Z_{in} \approx \frac{1}{g_m} \frac{\left(\frac{n}{k}\right)^2}{\frac{n}{k} + 1} \tag{4.1}$$

The use of this matching technique is advantageous over the conventional series inductor matching presented in section 2.1.1 because it is wideband. The series inductor match presented in Figure 2.1a is a narrow-band matching technique. A wider-band technique is needed in order to meet the input return loss specification of -10 dB (with 2 to 3 dB of margin) over the Satcom band of 17.7 to 21.2 GHz. With the typical series inductor match, the bandwidth of the input match improves with decreasing quality factor of the series inductor  $L_s$  in Figure 2.1a, as this inductor resonates out  $C_{gs}$  of the input transistor. In order to improve the bandwidth with the series inductor, it must be designed to have a lower Q, which will degrade the noise figure.

Another advantage of using the transformer match is that it allows for the easy addition of electrostatic discharge (ESD) protection in the form of diodes. This protection is accomplished by putting a double-diode pair in parallel with the decoupling capacitors  $C_1$ and  $C_2$ , as shown in Figure 4.1 [48]. From an RF signal point of view, the ESD diodes appear as a parasitic capacitance to ground. Since this capacitance appears in parallel with the already large capacitors  $C_1$  and  $C_2$ , it has no effect on RF performance. By contrast, if it was placed in parallel with the  $v_{in}$  node in the common-source LNA of Figure 2.1a, it would increase loss and change the input matching.

#### Input Transformer Design

(4.1) can be used to obtain a first-pass estimate of the required  $\frac{n}{k}$  for the input transformer. As described in Section 4.1.1, a  $32\mu$ m cascode stage biased at 5.64 mA was chosen for the input stage. However, the layout parasitics and series resistance of the degeneration inductor  $L_e$  all reduce the effective  $g_m$  of the input transistor. To take into account these effects, the low-frequency  $Y_{21}$  of the first stage with a 100 pH degeneration inductor of Q = 15 is simulated with a similar testbench as in Figure 4.2. This simulation yields a low-frequency  $Y_{21}$  of 0.15 S. Substituting this value of  $Y_{21}$  for  $g_m$  and  $Z_{in} = 50 \Omega$  into (4.1) gives a required  $\frac{n}{k}$  of 8.4.

A parametric sweep of the primary inductance reveals that  $L_b = 650$  pH is required to match the transistor at 20 GHz when  $\frac{n}{k}$  is 8.4. After layout and EM simulation of the input transformer, it is further optimized such that  $L_b = 760$  pH,  $L_e = 127$  pH, and k =0.45. These values give an  $\frac{n}{k}$  of 5.4. The transformer is laid out on the top two metal layers of the process, where  $L_b$ , and its layout is shown in Figure 4.6.



Figure 4.6: Layout of the input transformer for the LNA.

## 4.1.3 Interstage Matching Network

As shown in the Figure 4.1, the inter-stage matching network between the two amplifier stages consists of the three-coil notch transformer introduced in [8]. This section will

present the analysis and design of the inter-stage matching network for the filtering LNA.

#### Inter-stage Noise vs Conjugate Matching

The inter-stage matching network can be designed for either conjugate matching or noise matching. Figure 4.7 shows the block diagram of the 2-stage LNA with an inter-stage matching network (IMN). With conjugate matching, the IMN transforms  $Z_{out1}$  to  $Z_{s2}$ \*, which maximizes the gain. However, the second stage, like any amplifier, has a specific source impedance for which its noise figure is minimized,  $Z_{opt2}$ . As an alternative to conjugate matching, the IMN can be designed to transform  $Z_{out1}$  to  $Z_{opt2}$ , which minimizes the noise figure of the second stage and reduces the overall amplifier noise figure. The gain is no longer maximized but the noise figure is minimized.



Figure 4.7: Block diagram of the LNA and its inter-stage matching network (IMN).

Figure 4.8 shows a Smith chart plot of  $\Gamma_{Opt}$ ,  $S_{11}$ , and  $S_{11}^*$  of the second stage within the signal band. The normalized impedances  $Z_{opt}$  and  $Z_{in}^*$  are approximately  $5 + j3 \Omega$  and  $3 + j3 \Omega$  respectively. In order to achieve a compromise between noise and impedance matching, the targeted source impedance for synthesized by the inter-stage matching network is  $4 + j3 \Omega$ .



Figure 4.8: Smith chart plot of the second stage's  $\Gamma_{opt}$  and  $S_{11}$  from 17.7-21.2 GHz

#### Matching Network Design

The equivalent circuit of the inter-stage matching network is shown in Figure 4.9.  $L_{14}$ ,  $C'_3$ ,  $L'_{12}$ ,  $k''_{12}$ , and  $L_2$  represent the equivalent circuit parameters of the three-coil transformer, defined in (2.7) to (2.10). Finally,  $Z_{out1}$  is the output impedance of the first stage.



Figure 4.9: Equivalent circuit of the inter-stage matching network of the LNA.

In the equivalent circuit of Figure 4.9, at frequencies below the resonant frequency of  $\omega = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L_3C_3}}$ , the parallel tank consisting of  $L_3$  and  $C_3$  looks inductive, so it can be represented by an equivalent inductance  $L_{eq}$ . The expression for  $L_{eq}$  is found by considering the parallel impedance of  $L_{14}$  and  $C'_3$ , given by (4.2), which simplifies to (4.3). Next, substituting  $L_{14} = k_{13}^2 L_1$  ((2.7)) and  $C'_3 = \frac{L_3}{k_{13}^2 L_1} C_3$  ((2.8)) and simplifying gives (4.4). Finally, letting the notch frequency  $\omega_n$  be given by  $\omega_n = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L_3C_3}}$  simplifies the equation to (4.5). Thus, the equivalent inductance  $L_{eq}$  is given by (4.6).

$$Z_{eq} = sL_{14} || \frac{1}{sC_3'}.$$
(4.2)

$$Z_{eq} = s \frac{L_{14}}{1 - \omega^2 L_{14} C_3'}.$$
(4.3)

$$Z_{eq} = s \frac{k_{13}^2 L_1}{1 - \omega^2 L_3 C_3}.$$
(4.4)

$$Z_{eq} = s \frac{k_{13}^2 L_1}{1 - \left(\frac{\omega}{\omega_n}\right)^2}.$$
(4.5)

$$L_{eq} = \frac{k_{13}^2 L_1}{1 - \left(\frac{\omega}{\omega_n}\right)^2}.$$
 (4.6)

In order to improve the amplifier's  $IP_{1dB}$  at the low end of the 5G band, the notch of this transformer is designed to be at approximately 25 GHz. As a result, the parallel tank looks inductive at the signal frequencies between 17 and 21 GHz. Furthermore, the transformer can be represented by its equivalent T-model [49]. The resultant circuit model for the inter-stage matching network is shown in Figure 4.10. Here, the mutual inductance M is given by (4.7). The resistances  $R_1$  and  $R_2$  represent the series resistances of the primary and secondary coil respectively. The equivalent circuit in Figure 4.10 can be used to design the inter-stage matching network.



Figure 4.10: Simplified circuit of the LNA inter-stage matching network.

$$M = k_{12}'' \sqrt{L_{12}' L_2}.$$
(4.7)

The output impedance  $Z_{out1}$  of the first stage, without any additional matching networks, is approximately 5 - j100  $\Omega$  at 20 GHz. An example trajectory taken by the impedance, using the equivalent circuit from Figure 4.10 is shown in Figure 4.11. Point 1 indicates the start point, which is  $Z_{out1}$ , and the trajectory shows the steps to synthesize the desired second-stage source impedance of  $4 + j4 \Omega$ . First, the series inductor  $L_{eq}$ moves the impedance to point 2. Then, the series inductor  $L'_{12} - M$  moves the impedance to point 3. Next, the loss of the primary coil, given by  $R_1$ , moves the impedance to point 4. Afterwards, the shunt inductance M moves the impedance along a constant admittance circle to point 5. Finally, the series inductance of the secondary coil,  $L_2 - M$ , moves the impedance to the target at point 6. The effect of  $R_2$  on the matching is negligible and is not shown.



Figure 4.11: Example trajectory of  $Z_{out1}$  to the targeted second-stage source impedance.

The component values used in the trajectory in Figure 4.11 are shown in Table 4.1. These values can be used to calculate the physical inductances and magnetic coupling factors of the three-coil inter-stage transformer. Assuming an operating frequency of 20-GHz, a desired notch frequency  $f_n$  of 25 GHz, and then solving equations (2.7) to (2.10), (4.6), and (4.7) with the values from Table 4.1 gives an initial starting point for the physical transformer parameters. These values are shown in Table 4.2. All the physical parameters except  $L_3$  and  $C_3$  are determined in this way.  $L_3$  must be determined by experimental EM simulations that give bounds on what values are possible while still satisfying the required  $k_{13}$ , given the geometry of the transformer. Finally, given  $L_3$ , the value of  $C_3$  can be solved for from (2.11) knowing that the desired notch frequency is 25 GHz.

Trajectory Step	Parameter	Value
1 to 2	$L_{eq}$	240 pH
2 to 3	$L'_{12} - M$	225  pH
3 to 4	$R_1$	$5 \Omega$
4 to 5	M	360 pH
5 to 6	$L_2 - M$	1100 pH

Table 4.1: Component values used in the matching trajectory of Figure 4.11.

Table 4.2: Initial calculated physical values for the inter-stage transformer.

Component	Initial Value	Optimized Value
$L_1$	670 pH	907 pH
$L_2$	1.46 nH	1.7 nH
$L_3$	N/A	692 pH
$C_3$	N/A	55 fF
k <sub>12</sub>	0.34	0.49
k <sub>13</sub>	0.36	0.36

The model in Figure 4.10 is not adequate for higher frequencies because it does not take into account the parasitic capacitances of the transformer, such as in the double- $\pi$  model [20]. Therefore, it only serves to provide an initial guess for the transformer's values. The final transformer is obtained through optimization with electromagnetic simulations. The physical structure of the optimized transformer is shown in Figure 4.12b, with its ports defined as in Figure 4.12a. The transformer is implemented on the top two thick aluminium layers (AM and LY in Figure 4.5a), and its optimized values are given in Table 4.2.



Figure 4.12: The second stage notch and its small-signal equivalent circuit.

# 4.1.4 Analysis of the Novel Second-Stage Notch

In addition to the first notch introduced by the 3-coil inter-stage transformer, the second stage degeneration transformer (consisting of coupled inductors  $L_{e2}$  and  $L_{c2}$  in Figure 4.1) also adds a notch to the frequency response. This section will analyze the second-stage circuit and solve for the notch frequency  $\omega_n$ . It will also provide an analysis for the gain of the stage. The second stage circuit and its small-signal equivalent is shown in Figure 4.13. In the small-signal equivalent, the load inductor and capacitor are lumped into a single load impedance,  $Z_L$ .



Figure 4.13: The second stage notch. (a) Second-stage schematic. (b) Small-signal equivalent.

The circuit is similar to the drain-source transformer feedback LNA topology introduced in [50]. A similar analysis will be used for the second stage notch. First, as shown in Figure 4.13b, the feedback network consisting of  $L_{e2}$ ,  $L_{c2}$ , and  $C_n$  can be represented by an equivalent H-parameter network.

#### Derivation of the notch frequency

For a first-order analysis, we can ignore the effect of  $C_{\mu}$ . For a 4x0.12  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> HBT biased at 2 mA,  $C_{\pi}$  is 36 fF while  $C_{\mu}$  is 6 fF. The zero frequency of the voltage gain can be derived as

the frequency at which  $v_2 = 0$ , which leads to  $v_{be2} = 0$ , which leads to no current developed across the load  $Z_L$ . This condition occurs when the current due to the transconductor,  $g_m v_{be1}$ , is completely supplied by the feed-forward current,  $h_{21}i_1$ . This condition can be expressed as in (4.8).

$$g_m v_{be1} = -h_{21} i_1. (4.8)$$

(4.8) can be simplified, and the expression for  $h_{21}$  from (A.8) in Appendix A can be substituted to give:

$$g_m v_{be1} = -h_{21} v_{be1} (g_m + \frac{1}{Z_\pi}).$$
(4.9)

$$g_m = -h_{21}(g_m + \frac{1}{Z_\pi}). \tag{4.10}$$

$$g_m = \frac{\omega_n^2 M C_n}{1 - \omega_n^2 L_{c2} C_n} (g_m + \frac{1}{Z_\pi}).$$
(4.11)

In (4.9) - (4.11),  $Z_{\pi}$  is  $\frac{1}{sC_{\pi}}$  and  $\omega_n$  is the notch frequency, i.e., the frequency at which the voltage gain is 0. At 24 - 30 GHz, for the HBTs available in the BiCMOS 8XP technology, it is reasonable to assume that  $g_m >> \frac{1}{Z_{\pi}}$ . This assumption is reasonable because it can be approximately re-expressed as  $f \ll f_T$  by substituting  $\frac{g_m}{2\pi C_{\pi}}$  for  $f_T$  [20]. For the second-stage transistors,  $f_T$  is about 200 GHz at their chosen bias point, so it is reasonable to make this approximation at 24 to 30 GHz. Therefore, (4.11) simplifies to

$$g_m = \frac{\omega^2 M C_n}{1 - \omega_n^2 L_{c2} C_2} g_m.$$
(4.12)

The  $g_m$  on each side of (4.12) cancels, and we can solve for  $\omega_n$  as in (4.13).

$$\omega_n = \frac{1}{\sqrt{(L_{c2} + M)C_n}}.$$
(4.13)

(4.13) shows that the addition of the coupling between  $L_{e2}$  and  $L_{c2}$  shifts the notch frequency from  $\omega_n = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L_{c2}C_n}}$  to  $\omega_n = \frac{1}{\sqrt{(L_{c2}+M)C_n}}$ . Effectively, it increases the inductance of the notch by M, without adding any loss. Therefore, the quality factor (Q) of the notch is improved.

The improvement in Q can be quantified by defining the 'original' quality factor,  $Q_0$ , as the Q of the just the secondary coil, given by (4.14), where  $R_s$  is the series resistance of  $L_{c2}$ .

$$Q_0 = \frac{\omega L_{c2}}{R_s}.\tag{4.14}$$

With the coupling factor, the new quality factor becomes

$$Q = \frac{\omega(L_{c2} + M)}{R_s}.\tag{4.15}$$

The relative improvement in Q can then be calculated as in (4.16), where k is the coupling factor of the transformer and  $n = \sqrt{\frac{L_{c2}}{L_{c2}}}$  is the turns ratio. For example, in this work, k is 0.61 and n is 1.8, giving an improvement in Q of 34%.

$$\frac{Q}{Q_0} = \frac{L_{c2} + M}{M} = 1 + \frac{k}{n}.$$
(4.16)

(4.16) suggests that a higher coupling factor will give a higher Q of the notch. However, a higher-Q notch will also have a narrower-band frequency response. Therefore, the coupling cannot be made so high that the small-signal rejection does not cover enough bandwidth.

#### Gain Analysis

The equivalent circuit in Figure 4.13b can be used to create a signal flow diagram, shown in Figure 4.14, similarly to the transformer feedback analysis conducted in [50].



Figure 4.14: Signal flow diagram of the second stage with the degeneration notch.

The expressions for each gain/feedback term of the block diagram are given by (4.17) - (4.23) [50].  $G_a$  and  $G_x$  can be thought of the two components of the forward gain, given by (4.24).  $G_i$  is the input gain from  $v_{in}$  to  $v_{be}$ , and  $H_x$  is the feedback gain from the intermediate node  $v_2$  to  $v_{be}$ . Finally,  $G_{\mu}$  can be thought of as the feed-forward gain due to  $C_{\mu}$ .

$$G_i = \frac{v_{be}}{v_{in}}\Big|_{v_2=0} = \frac{Z_{\pi}}{Z_{\pi} + h_{11} \left(g_m Z_{\pi} + 1\right)}.$$
(4.17)

$$G_a = -g_m \left( Z_{cas} ||Z_\mu| |\frac{1}{h_{22}} \right).$$
(4.18)

$$G_x = -h_{21} \left( g_m + \frac{1}{Z_\pi} \right) \left( Z_{cas} || Z_\mu || \frac{1}{h_{22}} \right).$$
(4.19)

$$H_x = \frac{v_{be}}{v_2}\Big|_{v_b=0} = -h_{12} \frac{Z_\pi}{Z_\pi + h_{11} \left(g_m Z_\pi + 1\right)}.$$
(4.20)

$$G_{\mu} = \frac{Z_{cas}||\frac{1}{h_{22}}}{Z_{\mu} + Z_{cas}||\frac{1}{h_{22}}}.$$
(4.21)

$$G_{cas} = \frac{v_{out}}{v_2} \Big|_{v_b, v_{be}=0} = g_m \left( Z_L || \frac{1}{sC_{\mu}} \right).$$
(4.22)

$$Z_{cas} = \frac{1}{g_m} || Z_\pi.$$
 (4.23)

$$G_{forward} = \frac{v_2}{v_{be}}\Big|_{v_b=0} = G_a + G_x.$$
(4.24)

The signal flow graph can be simplified with Mason's rule [37, p. 196], yielding the equation for the voltage gain in (4.25). If  $C_{\mu}$  is assumed to be 0, from (4.21) this corresponds to  $G_{\mu} = 0$ . Then, setting  $A_V$  to 0 yields the condition  $G_a = -G_x$ , which can be shown to simplify to (4.10). Therefore, the condition  $G_a = -G_x$  can be used as a more general method of deriving the notch frequency.

$$A_V = G_{cas} \frac{G_\mu + G_i (G_a + G_x)}{1 - H_x (G_a + G_x)}.$$
(4.25)

(4.25) can be used to consider the effect of  $C_{\mu}$  on the notch frequency. At the notch frequency,  $G_a + G_x = 0$ , so then  $A_V$  simplifies to,

$$A_V\Big|_{\omega=\omega_n} = G_\mu G_{cas}.$$
(4.26)

(4.26) shows that the non-zero  $C_{\mu}$  imposes an upper bound on the gain that can be achieved at the notch frequency. Therefore, in order to maximize the rejection, the second stage transistors should be sized and laid out to minimize  $C_{\mu}$ . This was achieved in the second stage by choosing relatively small devices (4  $\mu$ m), and by avoiding overlap between base and collector metals in the layout.

(4.25) also shows that the feedback gain,  $H_x$ , reduces the gain of the stage. (4.20) shows that  $H_x$  depends on  $h_{12}$ , which, from (A.5), depends on the mutual inductance, M. Therefore, more mutual inductance, given by a higher coupling factor k of the transformer, S will reduce the gain of the stage. However, as shown in (4.16), a higher k is desirable for a higher Q enhancement of the notch. Therefore, there is a trade-off between gain and out-of-band rejection using this feedback technique.

#### Second-Stage Model Verification

To verify the model derived in this section, the voltage gain, given by (4.25), was calculated using the values in Table 4.3. The transistor parameters  $(C_{\pi}, C_{\mu}, \text{ and } g_m)$  were extracted from the DC operating point of the second-stage devices. For comparison, the second-stage was also simulated with the HBT models provided by the process development kit (PDK). The comparison is shown in Figure 4.15. The model has higher gain than the simulation at frequencies away from the notch. This discrepancy could be due to additional parasitics in the PDK transistor model that are not included in the model in Figure 4.13b, such as the base and collector resistances.

Parameter	Value
$g_m$	68  mS
$C_{\pi}$	37.4 fF
$C_{\mu}$	6.8 fF
$L_{e2}$	$157 \mathrm{pH}$
$L_{c2}$	417  pH
M	$156 \mathrm{pH}$
$k_n$	0.61
L <sub>load</sub>	750 pH
$C_{out}$	$75~\mathrm{fF}$
$Q_3$ and $Q_4$	$4 \mathrm{x} 0.12 \ \mathrm{\mu m^2}$

Table 4.3: Values used to verify the second-stage model.

Both the model and the PDK simulation show a notch at 28.6 GHz. This notch frequency is different from what (4.13) would yield, which is 28.35 GHz. Another discrepancy is that the gain at the notch frequency is greater than  $G_u G_{cas}$ , whereas the model predicted that they would be equal. These two discrepancies can be attributed to the approximation that  $g_m >> \frac{1}{Z_{\pi}}$  that was made in the derivation of (4.13).


Figure 4.15: Comparison between the second-stage voltage gain as predicted by the model vs. simulation of HBTs.

As predicted by (4.13), the notch frequency depends on the mutual inductance, M. This prediction was verified by varying the coupling factor, k, in (4.25). The frequency response of the voltage gain versus k is shown in Figure 4.16a, and the notch frequency (defined as the frequency of the minimum voltage gain) is compared to the notch frequency as calculated by (4.13) in Figure 4.16b.



Figure 4.16: Second-stage notch behaviour versus coupling factor k. (a) Frequency response of  $A_V$ . (b) Location of notch frequency.

(4.16) suggests that the quality factor of the notch can be improved by increasing the coupling factor k. This property were verified by fixing the notch frequency,  $f_n$ , to 28 GHz, and varying k. With all other parameters the same as in Table 4.3, the notch capacitor,  $C_n$ , was adjusted to maintain the same  $f_n$  for each value of k by setting it to

$$C_n = \frac{1}{4\pi^2 f_0^2 \left(L_{c2} + M\right)}.$$
(4.27)

Figure 4.17 shows the voltage gain with the fixed notch frequency versus k. As k increases, the gain at the notch frequency also decreases, verifying the prediction that the effective Q is improved. The trade-off is that there is that in-band gain also decreases. This trade-off was also predicted to occur because the increased k means a higher  $h_{12}$ , leading to a higher magnitude of the feedback term  $H_x$ .



Figure 4.17

#### 4.1.5 Simulation Results

Figure 4.18 shows the final layout of LNA Design 1 from Figure 4.1. The layout includes the pads for probing. Figure 4.18 also shows the location of the transformers.  $T_1$  is the input matching transformer,  $T_2$  is the 3-coil inter-stage transformer, and  $T_3$  is the second-stage degeneration transformer. Decoupling capacitors are implemented using dual metal-insulator-metal capacitors, and are placed near the  $V_{CC}$  connections of each stage. The ground plane is implemented with a mid-level copper layer (MQ in Figure 4.5a), shown in dark blue in Figure 4.18. The LNA consumes a total of 13.8 mW from a 1.8 V supply.

The LNA's performance was simulated by performing electromagnetic simulation on the final layout using Cadence EMX<sup>TM</sup>3. The simulation ports were placed at the pads, and interconnect parasitics due to probes or wire-bonds were modeled by adding a 1 nH inductance to the DC and bias pads ( $v_{b1}$ ,  $v_{b2}$ ,  $V_{CC}$ ,  $v_{c1}$ , and  $v_{c2}$ ) in simulation. Figure 4.19a shows the simulated small-signal gain, input return loss, and output return loss of Design 1. The peak gain is 28.8 dB at 19.4 GHz, and is greater than 24 dB between 17.7 and 21.2 GHz. The input return loss  $S_{11}$  is less than -10 dB from 15 to 30 GHz due to the wideband input transformer matching. The output return loss  $S_{22}$  is less than -10 dB between 17.65 and 20.8 GHz. The output return loss is more narrow-band than the input return loss because of the single-section LC matching topology used in the second stage. The noise figure is shown in Figure 4.20. The minimum noise figure is 1.85 dB at 18.3 GHz and it is less than 2.25 dB between 17.7 and 21.2 GHz. The gain between 24 and 30 GHz is less than 7.1 dB, giving a small-signal rejection of 21.7 dB from the peak gain.



Figure 4.18: Filtering LNA layout. Only the top 3 metals are displayed.



Figure 4.19: (a) Filtering LNA s-parameters for  $v_{n1}$  and  $v_{n2} = 1.2$  V. (b) Zoomed in plot of the LNA gain.



Figure 4.20: Filtering LNA noise figure with  $v_{n1}$  and  $v_{n2}$  set to 1.2 V.

Figure 4.21 shows the s-parameters and noise figure of the filtering LNA for the four notch control voltage states. The gain plot, shown in Figure 4.21a, shows that as the notches are disabled, the LNA gain flatness near the Satcom band improves because the notches are pushed to a higher frequency. Figure 4.21b shows that the second-stage notch

does not affect  $S_{11}$  while the first stage notch does cause a shift in some of the resonances. However, in all cases, the amplifier remains well matched across a wide bandwidth.



Figure 4.21: Filtering LNA small-signal results vs. notch control voltages. (a)  $S_{21}$ , (b)  $S_{11}$ , (c),  $S_{22}$ , (d) Noise figure.

Figure 4.21c shows that the notch settings have almost no effect on the  $S_{22}$ . Finally, Figure 4.21d shows that the state of the notches at mid-band, around 19 GHz, has minimal

effect on the noise figure. At the edge of the band between 20 and 21 GHz, disabling the notches improves the noise figure, e.g. from 2.18 dB to 2.08 dB at 21 GHz. This improvement is due to the higher gain at the edge of the band in both stages as the notches are disabled.

Figure 4.22 shows the large-signal simulation results of the LNA with filtering for the four different notch states. Figure 4.22a shows that in all cases, the out-of-band IP<sub>1dB</sub> is greater than -23 dBm from 24-30 GHz in all the states, and can be increased to -14 dBm in the 27-30 GHz band by disabling the first stage notch (i.e. setting  $v_{n1}$  to 0 V). Disabling the first stage notch improves the IP<sub>1dB</sub> within this band because the inter-stage notch moves from 24 GHz to 28 GHz. This shift happens due to the notch capacitor appearing in series with the switch's off capacitance, reducing the effective notch capacitance and pushing the notch to a higher frequency.

The OP1dB of the filtering LNA is shown in Figure 4.22b. With both notches enabled, the OP1dB is less than -11 dBm between 24 and 30 GHz, reaching a minimum of -29 dBm at 27 GHz. This low OP1dB means that the LNA will deliver a low power to any blocks that come after it in the receiver, which will ease the out-of-band linearity requirements of those blocks.



Figure 4.22: Large signal simulation results of the LNA with filtering. (a). Input 1-dB compression point ( $IP_{1dB}$ ). (b). Output 1-dB compression point (OP1dB)

Figure 4.23 shows the IIP<sub>3</sub> vs. frequency for Design 1. At each frequency, the IIP<sub>3</sub> was simulated with one tone at the center frequency, and another 10 MHz away from the

center frequency. For example, the IIP<sub>3</sub> at 20 GHz was simulated with one tone at 20 GHz and another at 20.01 GHz, and extrapolating the power at 19.99 GHz. Between 24 and 30 GHz, the IIP<sub>3</sub> is greater than -11 dBm, which is about 10 dB higher than the IP<sub>1dB</sub> as expected.



Figure 4.23:  $IIP_3$  vs. frequency of Design 1.

The gain flatness vs. frequency of the LNA is also shown in Figure 4.24. When both notches are enabled, the gain flatness is less than 3 dB/GHz between 17.5 and 20.2 GHz. With the notches disabled, it is less than 3 dB/GHz up to 21.2 GHz. Therefore, as discussed in Section 3.2.3, the LNA can support 100 MHz signal bandwidths with center frequencies at the edges of the Satcom band.



Figure 4.24: Gain flatness vs. frequency for the filtering LNA for the different tuning states.

#### Stability

Both stages of the LNA shown in Figure 4.1 have feedback networks. The first stage uses transformer feedback for input matching while the second stage uses feedback-based active filtering. Therefore, it is important to check the stability of both stages on their own, as well that of the cascaded amplifier.

The stability of a single-stage amplifier can be verified by checking the  $\mu$ -factor, given by [37],

$$\mu = \frac{1 - |S_{11}|^2}{|S_{22} - \Delta S_{11}^*| + |S_{12}S_{21}|} > 1,$$
(4.28)

where  $\Delta$  is given by,

$$|\Delta| = |S_{11}S_{22} - S_{12}S_{21}| < 1.$$
(4.29)

For a multi-stage amplifier, it is necessary to verify this condition for each stage, with and without the inter-stage matching networks. The condition should also be checked for the cascade of the multiple stages. The simulated  $\mu$ -factors of Design 1 are shown in Figure 4.25. The plot show that the stability condition is satisfied for both stages, as well as the full amplifier.



Figure 4.25:  $\mu$ -factor of each stage, as well as the full amplifier, for Design 1.

#### **Effects Process Variations**

In order to investigate the effects of process, voltage, and temperature (PVT) variations, Monte-Carlo simulations were performed on Design 1. The Monte-Carlo simulation involved 500 iterations across all corners, with the supply voltage varying  $\pm 10$  %, and temperatures of 25, 55, and 85 °C. The results are shown in Figure 4.26. Figure 4.26a shows the gain of the amplifier at 19 GHz. The overall variation is more than 10 dB, and 10% of iterations had a gain less than 25 dB. Figure 4.26b shows the out-of-band small-signal rejection, defined as the difference between the gain at 19 GHz and 24 GHz. There is a 6-dB variation in the range of rejection, but the rejection is less than 20 dB in only 4% of iterations. Finally, Figure 4.26c shows the distribution of the noise figure at 19 GHz. The noise figure varies between 1.5 and 3.5 dB, but it is only greater than the targeted specification of 2.5 dB in 5% of iterations.



Figure 4.26: Monte-Carlo simulation results of Design 1. (a) Gain at 19 GHz. (b) Small-signal rejection between 19 GHz and 24 GHz. (c). Noise figure at 19 GHz.

## 4.2 Design 2: A Single-Ended to Differential LNA with Satcom Self-Interference Rejection

This section presents and LNA that was designed to only reject Satcom self-interference. This design represents an alternative application case where it is not expected that 5G wireless signals present a serious source of interference. An example application case could be in a rural area where the 5G infrastructure is not as developed as it would be in an urban area, but Satcom arrays are used for internet connectivity. Section 4.2.1 shows the schematic and component values of the LNA, and section 4.2.2 shows its simulation results.

#### 4.2.1 Amplifier Schematic

Figure 4.27 shows the schematic of the LNA. It is similar to the LNA presented in Section 4.1. The first difference between the two designs is that both notches were tuned to be at 27-30 GHz rather than spread between 24 and 30 GHz. The other difference is that the output matching of this LNA is a transformer balun that converts the signal from single-ended to differential. In addition to the different output matching, there are no output pads. The reason for this change in the output is that this LNA is intended for a full beamformer receiver, so its output is designed for a phase shifter to come after it.

Another change made in Design 2 is the device sizes. Both stages uses HBTs with emitter areas of  $16 \times 0.12 \mu m^2$ . Larger second stage devices were chosen to improve the linearity of the LNA. To compensate for the extra power consumption of the larger second-stage devices, smaller devices were needed in the first-stage as well.

Another difference between the two designs is that this LNA does not include tuning switches for the notches as in the LNA of Section 4.1. The reason for this is that 5G wireless interference is expected to be intermittent depending on the receiver's proximity to a 5G base station. Therefore, adding tunability in Design 1 allowed it to recover some of the noise figure degradation due to the 24-26 GHz filtering. On the other hand, it is expected that Satcom self-interference would always be present, and the frequency of the interferer is farther from the Satcom downlink signal at 17.7 - 21.2 GHz. Therefore, there is less benefit to be gained from adding tunability.

The layout of the LNA is shown in Figure 4.28. The layout of Design 2 is different from Design 1. The focus in this layout was for a more compact design to save chip area in a Satcom receiver channel. The DC pad for  $v_{b2}$  is not shown as it is outside of the main area of the LNA in the receiver chain.



Figure 4.27: Schematic and component values for Design 2.



Figure 4.28: Layout of Design 2.

#### 4.2.2 Simulation Results

Similarly to Design 1, Design 2 was EM-simulated with Cadence EMX<sup>TM</sup>. Simulation ports were placed at the input pads for the RF input, and on the output signal lines for the output ports. To model wirebond inductance, ideal 1-nH inductors were connected, in post-layout simulation, to the DC pads. Figures 4.29a and 4.29b shows the s-parameters and noise figure of the LNA respectively. The gain reaches a peak of 26.8 dB at 19 GHz, and is less than -5 dB from 27-30 GHz. The  $S_{11}$  is well-matched across the entire band. The  $S_{22}$  is not well matched to 50  $\Omega$ . It is less than -10 dB between 17 and 19.7 GHz. The poor  $S_{22}$  is due to insufficient optimization of the output matching network. The amplifier consumes 14.9 mW of DC power from a 1.8 V supply.

Figure 4.30a shows the gain flatness of the Design 2 LNA. The gain flatness is less than 2.5 dB/GHz between 17.7 and 21.2 GHz.

Since Design 2 has a differential output, the mismatch between the two outputs was simulated. There is 0.9 dB of magnitude mismatch, while the phase difference between the outputs deviates by less than 1° from 180° between 17.7 and 21.2 GHz. The high magnitude mismatch can be attributed to the asymmetrical layout of the output transformer.

Figure 4.30b shows the input and output compression 1-dB compression points of the LNA vs. frequency. The OP1dB is less than -14 dBm between 27 and 30 GHz, indicating that the block following the LNA must have an out-of-band  $IP_{1dB}$  of at least -14 dBm to avoid compressing during an interference event.



Figure 4.29: (a) S-parameters and (b) noise figure of LNA 2.



Figure 4.30: (a) Gain flatness of LNA 2. (b)  $IP_{1dB}$  and OP1dB of Design 2.

Figure 4.31 shows the IIP<sub>3</sub> vs. frequency for Design 2. The IIP<sub>3</sub> is defined similarly as in Design 1 (two tones with 10 MHz spacing at each frequency). Between 27 and 30 GHz, it is greater than -6 dBm, which is approximately 10 dB higher than the IP<sub>1dB</sub> at each frequency.



Figure 4.31:  $IIP_3$  of Design 2 vs. frequency.

Figure 4.32 shows the simulated  $\mu$ -factor of each stage of the amplifier, as well as the cascade of the stages. The  $\mu$ -factor is greater than 1 between DC and 60 GHz, indicating unconditional stability.



Figure 4.32:  $\mu$ -factor of Design 2's stages as well as the full amplifier.

## 4.3 Summary of LNA Performance

Table 4.4 shows the summary of the targeted and achieved specifications of the LNAs designed in this chapter. Both designs meets the targeted gain, noise figure, gain flatness, in-band  $IP_{1dB}$ , in-band  $IIP_3$ , input return loss, DC power consumption, and chip area. Design 2 does not meet the targeted output return loss specification, as its output transformer was not sufficiently tuned after full EM simulation.

In terms of out-of-band  $IP_{1dB}$ , Design 1 achieves between -17 and -15 dBm depending on which notches are enabled, as shown in Figure 4.22. In some notch states, Design 1 does not meet the targeted  $IP_{1dB}$  of -16 dBm at 24-26 GHz. Similarly, between 27 and 30 GHz, the LNA in Design 1 achieves an  $IP_{1dB}$  of -15 to -14 dBm depending on the notch state used, which is above the targeted specification -18 dBm.

Design 2 also achieves an out-of-band  $IP_{1dB}$  greater than -15 dBm between 27 and 30 GHz, which is above the targeted specification. While it does not meet the target  $IP_{1dB}$  specification at 24-26 GHz, it was not designed for that frequency. Interestingly, even though Design 2 has a higher in-band  $IP_{1dB}$  than Design 1 (owing to the larger second-stage devices), that increase in linearity is not reflected in the out-of-band linearity, which is similar to that of Design 1.

Specification	Target	Design 1	Design 2
Frequency	17.7 - 21.2 GHz	17.7 - 21.2 GHz	17.7 - 21.2 GHz
Gain	> 25  dB	28.8 dB	26.8 dB
Small-signal rejection	> 20  dB	> 21.7  dB (24-30  GHz)	31.8 dB (27-30 GHz)
Noise Figure	< 2.5  dB	< 2.2  dB	< 2.1  dB
In-Band Gain flatness	< 3  dB/GHz	< 3  dB/GHz	< 2.5  dB/GHz
$IP_{1dB}$ in-band	> -40 dBm	> -35 dBm	> -30 dBm
$IIP_3$ in-band	> -30  dBm	> -25  dBm	> -17  dBm
$IP_{1dB}$ at 24-26 GHz	> -16 dBm	> -17 dBm	> -19 dBm
$IP_{1dB}$ at 27-30 GHz	> -18 dBm	> -15 dBm	> -15 dBm
Input Return Loss In-Band	< -10 dB	< -12 dB	< -12 dB
Output Return Loss In-Band	< -10 dB	< -10 dB	< -8 dB
DC Power Consumption	< 15  mW	13.8 mW	14.9 mW
Chip Area	$< 1 \mathrm{x1} \mathrm{mm}^2$	$0.7 \text{x} 0.58 \text{ mm}^2$	$0.45 \text{x} 0.68 \text{ mm}^2$
Differential Mismatch	N/A	N/A	0.9 dB

Table 4.4: LNA specifications.

# Chapter 5

## Measurement Results

Both LNAs were submitted for fabrication in the GlobalFoundries 130nm SiGe BiCMOS 8XP process. However, at the time of this writing, only design 1 had finished fabrication and was measured. This chapter will present the measurement results for Design 1, as well as a description of the measurement plan for Design 2. The measurement results for Design 1 uncovered a layout error that was not captured in simulation due to an error with the tools, which is explained in depth in Appendix B.

#### 5.1 Design 1

Figure 5.1 shows the micrograph of the fabricated Design 1 chip. The measurement setup is shown in Figure 5.2. S-parameters were measured using a Keysight<sup>TM</sup> PNA-X N5245B. 2.4 mm RF cables connected the PNA to the MPI<sup>TM</sup> ground-signal-ground (GSG) probes. A Keysight Electronic Calibration (E-cal) module was used to calibrate the s-parameters up to the end of the cables. Then, the probes were de-embedded using manufacturer provided s-parameters. Supply, DC ground, and bias connections were made using DC probes connected to a power supply.



Figure 5.1: Micrograph of the fabricated Design 1 chip.



Figure 5.2: LNA measurement setup.

During the verification of the prototype's DC current consumption, a critical short was found in the first stage. The schematic of the first-stage with the short is shown in Figure 5.3. Due to a layout error in the first-stage transistors, the base of  $Q_1$  was shorted to the base of  $Q_2$ . This short was not detected with post-layout verification tools such as Layout vs. Schematic (LVS) due to a software bug in the process development kit (PDK) version that was used for the design. The bug is explained in detail in Appendix B.



Figure 5.3: First stage short.

Since the base of  $Q_2$  is connected to  $V_{CC}$ , which was decoupled to ground on-chip, the short effectively AC-grounded the input of the LNA, leading to very low gain. In addition, if  $V_{CC}$  is connected, the first-stage draws a high current (approximately 300 mA in simulation) if  $V_{CC}$  is set to its nominal value fo of 1.8V.

While the first-stage short effectively made the LNA non-functional, there were still some measurements that could be made to verify the design. First, the off-state input and output match were measured. These s-parameters were obtained by disconnecting all DC biases and only connecting the RF probes. Figure 5.4a shows the off-state  $S_{11}$  and  $S_{22}$ magnitudes. There is good agreement between measurement and simulation for  $S_{22}$ , save for 1-GHz shift in the lowest point. There is some ripple in the  $S_{22}$  after 24 GHz, which could indicate a problem with the calibration. For  $S_{11}$ , since it is not well-matched in the off-state, it is hard to discern the match between simulation and measurement in the off-state, so the measurement and simulation are compared in Figure 5.4b on the Smith chart. The measured  $S_{11}$  is close to the simulation, but slightly to the right, indicating extra losses in the measurement.



Figure 5.4: Off-state of the measured LNA. (a) Magnitude of  $S_{11}$  and  $S_{22}$ . (b) Smith chart plot of  $S_{11}$ .

The LNA was also measured with DC supplies connected. The first-stage base bias,  $v_{b1}$ , was left floating in order to prevent a current flow between two power supplies. All the other biases were connected. Since the first-stage short causes a large DC current draw with a 1.8-V  $V_{CC}$ , a 1-V supply was used, which limited the DC current to 30 mA in total (28 mA from the first stage, and 2 mA from the second stage). To compare to simulation, the LNA was re-simulated with a 2.7  $\Omega$  resistor shorting the bases of  $Q_1$  and  $Q_2$ . This resistance value was found, by trial and error, to give a close match to the measured gain.

The measured on-state s-parameters are shown in Figures 5.5a - 5.5d. Figure 5.5a, shows the filtering behaviour across all four states. Both notches shifted downwards in frequency. The first notch, enabled when  $v_{c1}$  is 1.2 V, shifted from about 24.5 GHz to 23.5 GHz, which is evident from where the gain reaches a plateau. The second notch, enabled when  $v_{c2}$  is 1.2 V, shifted from 28.5 GHz to 26 GHz, which can be seen from observing where  $S_{21}$  reaches its minimum out-of-band. The on-state  $S_{11}$  and  $S_{22}$ , shown in Figures 5.5c and 5.5d respectively, show a good match between measurement and simulation. One discrepancy is that the magnitude of  $S_{11}$  for frequencies under 19 GHz decreases more than simulated.



Figure 5.5: Measured on-state s-parameters of the LNA with  $V_{CC}$  of 1 V across all 4 tuning states. (a)  $S_{21}$ . (b)  $S_{21}$  within the Satcom band. (c)  $S_{11}$ . (d)  $S_{22}$ .

The shift in the notch frequencies could be due to an increase in each notch's capacitance. The notch capacitors were implemented with metal-oxide-metal (MoM) capacitors. Figure 5.6 shows the comparison between simulated and measured gain if each notch capacitor is increased by 15 % in simulation. This additional capacitance results in a closer match between measurement and simulation.



Figure 5.6: Measured vs. simulated  $S_{21}$  in all 4 notch states, with 15 % more capacitance at each notch.

### 5.2 Design 2 Measurement Plan

Design 2 was fabricated as part of an RF front-end for a phased array receiver. The frontend consists of the LNA, a phase shifter, and a variable attenuator. The block diagram of the receiver is shown in Figure 5.7. No standalone test-chip was fabricated for just the LNA, so its performance will be characterized as part of the response of the entire receiver. Additionally, the transistor layout was changed for design 2, and it was verified with a newer version of the PDK that did not have the LVS bug. Therefore, the short is not expected to be present in the measurement of Design 2.



Figure 5.7: Block diagram of the receiver chain containing design 2.

The RF performance of the receiver will be measured by on-wafer probing, similar to Design 1. The difference is that the numerous pads for DC supplies, bias voltages, and digital control voltages will be wire-bonded to a PCB, and brought out with connectors to be connected to external sources.

# Chapter 6

# **Conclusion and Future Work**

## 6.1 Conclusion

The push for ubiquitous coverage of high-speed internet has led to the research and development of active phased array antennas for Satcom. One of the challenges in the design of a Satcom receive antenna array is resilience to out-of-band interferers. These interferers can include 5G wireless signals from nearby base stations, and self-interference due to the Satcom transmitter. A potential solution to this problem is to include out-of-band filtering in the LNA of the Satcom beamformer ICs. This thesis demonstrated the design and simulation of two LNAs for a Satcom phased array beamformer receiver with embedded out-of-band filtering. The amplifiers were designed for the 17.7 - 21.2 GHz Satcom downlink band.

Chapter 2 presented an overview of existing circuit techniques to accomplish out-ofband filtering for phased arrays and millimeter-wave LNAs. Common LNA topologies used at mm-wave were reviewed, such as the common-source and cascode amplifiers. Filtering techniques from the literature were also presented, including off-chip filtering, on-chip passive filtering, and on-chip active filtering.

Chapter 3 showed the system analysis that derived the specifications for the LNAs to make them suitable for receiving weak Satcom signals while rejecting strong blockers from the transmitter and 5G base stations. A system model of the RF front-ends of a Satcom phased array receiver was developed. The gain, noise figure, gain flatness, and out-of-band  $IP_{1dB}$  specifications were derived.

Chapter 4 addressed the design of the two LNAs using the GlobalFoundries 8XP SiGe BiCMOS technology. The first design is a single-ended LNA with filtering at 24-30 GHz,

allowing it to reject both 5G blockers and Satcom self-interference. The second LNA is a single-ended to differential amplifier, designed to only filter the Satcom transmitter self-interference between 27 and 30 GHz. Both LNAs achieve out-of-band filtering using a 3-coil interstage transformer and a novel second stage transformer feedback technique. Full electromagnetic (EM) simulation results show that the first LNA has an input 1-dB compression point of up to -14 dBm and an output 1-dB compression point as low as -29 dBm between 24 and 30 GHz. The LNA also has a peak small-signal gain of 28.8 dB at 19.4 GHz and a minimum noise figure of 1.85 dB, making it suitable for receiving weak Satcom signals. Finally, four tuning states allow the LNA's out-of-band filtering to be tuned. The full EM simulation of the second LNA shows a peak small signal gain of 26.8 dB, a gain flatness of less than 2.5 dB/GHz in the Satcom band, and a minimum noise figure of 1.85 dB at at 18 GHz. The LNA has an out-of-band IP<sub>1dB</sub> between 27 and 30 GHz greater than -15 dBm, and more than 31.8 dB of small signal rejection. Both LNAs use wideband transformer-based input matching to achieve an  $S_{11}$  less than -10 dB between 15 and 30 GHz, allowing for a easy integration with a 50  $\Omega$  receive antenna.

Finally, Chapter 5 showed the measurement results of Design 1. Due to an error in the layout and a bug in the layout verification software, there was a critical short in the first-stage devices. This short drastically reduced the gain of the amplifier. Despite this problem, both the on-state and off-state small-signal measurements showed an agreement between simulation and measurement.

### 6.2 Future Work

The results in this work offer several promising pathways for further research. These include further explorations on both the circuit and system level.

On the circuit level, it would be valuable to further explore the novel transformer feedback notch introduced in Chapter 4. In this work, the feedback notch was placed in the second stage to improve the out-of-band small signal rejection. But it could also be placed in the first stage to improve the out-of-band  $IP_{1dB}$ . However, it is expected that this would degrade the noise figure. Another potential future avenue of research would be to try the feedback notch between a different pair of nodes in the circuit. Also, the feedback notch's rejection could be improved by adopting a differential topology and applying capacitive neutralization to reduce the effect of  $C_{\mu}$ , which, according to 4.26, would lower the gain at the notch frequency.

The measurement results of Design 1 showed a shift in the notch frequencies, which may have been caused by variations of on-chip capacitors. To compensate these variations, a future LNA could have digitally controlled capacitor banks to allow for better postfabrication tuning of the out-of-band rejection.

The LNA designed in this work could be used to design a multi-channel receiver beamformer for Satcom applications. This beamformer would include a full RF front-end, including the LNA, phase control block, gain control block. The beamformer could be packaged into a bumped, flip-chip IC and be used for a full receiver array as in [3].

The filtering techniques explored in this work could also be applied to an interleaved dual-band Satcom phased array. Such an array would include both transmit and receive antenna elements on the same array. An example of this type of array is shown in [51], where an interleaved array of patch antennas is designed for a Satcom system with the receiver at K-band (17-21 GHz) and the transmitter at Ka-band (27-30 GHz). This array would require the beamformer ICs to include both Ka-band transmitters and K-band receivers on the same chip. Implementing both the transmitter and the receiver on on die, as well as the proximity of the transmit and receiver antenna elements, would increase the self-interference seen by the receiver. The receiver would require a stricter out-of-band filtering requirement. An interesting avenue of research would be to design a beamformer IC for such a system, consisting of K-band receivers with out-of-band filtering and Ka-band transmitters in one chip. The beamformers could be used to design a dual-band active phased array with interleaved transmit and receive antenna elements.

## References

- G. Akkor, J. Baras, and M. Hadjitheodosiou, "A multiple subset sum formulation for feedback implosion suppression over satellite networks," in *GLOBECOM '05. IEEE Global Telecommunications Conference*, 2005., vol. 6, 2005, pp. 5 pp.–3230.
- [2] E. Team, "Everything RF," Aug 2017. [Online]. Available: https://www.everythingrf.com/community/ what-is-the-impact-of-the-earths-atmosphere-on-rf-signal-propagation
- [3] G. Gültepe, T. Kanar, S. Zihir, and G. M. Rebeiz, "A 1024-Element Ku-Band SAT-COM Dual-Polarized Receiver With ¿10-dB/K G/T and Embedded Transmit Rejection Filter," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 69, no. 7, pp. 3484–3495, 2021.
- [4] K. K. W. Low, T. Kanar, S. Zihir, and G. M. Rebeiz, "A 17.7 20.2 GHz 1024-Element K-Band SATCOM Phased-Array Receiver With 8.1-dB/K G/T, ±70 deg Beam Scanning, and High Transmit Isolation," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 70, no. 3, pp. 1769–1778, 2022.
- [5] T. Lee, H. Samavati, and H. Rategh, "5-GHz CMOS wireless LANs," IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 268–280, 2002.
- [6] J. Rogers and C. Plett, "A 5-GHz radio front-end with automatically Q-tuned notch filter and VCO," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 38, no. 9, pp. 1547–1554, 2003.
- [7] F. Tabarani and H. Schumacher, "A 32.8 dB gain, 3.5 dB NF, 7 mW, 20.35 GHz LNA with embedded 30 GHz band-stop filter," in 2017 IEEE Bipolar/BiCMOS Circuits and Technology Meeting (BCTM), 2017, pp. 78–81.

- [8] J. Zhang, D. Zhao, and X. You, "Analysis and Design of a CMOS LNA With Transformer-Based Integrated Notch Filter for Ku-Band Satellite Communications," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 70, no. 1, pp. 790–800, 2022.
- [9] C. Lu, M. K. Matters-Kammerer, R. Mahmoudi, and P. G. Baltus, "A 20 GHz 1.9 dB NF LNA with distributed notch filtering for VSAT applications," in 2014 IEEE MTT-S International Microwave Symposium (IMS2014), 2014, pp. 1–4.
- [10] L. Gao and G. M. Rebeiz, "A 24-43 GHz LNA with 3.1-3.7 dB Noise Figure and Embedded 3-Pole Elliptic High-Pass Response for 5G Applications in 22 nm FDSOI," in 2019 IEEE Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits Symposium (RFIC), 2019, pp. 239– 242.
- [11] J. Macedo and M. Copeland, "A 1.9-GHz silicon receiver with monolithic image filtering," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 378–386, 1998.
- [12] J. Lee and C. Nguyen, "A k-/ka-band concurrent dual-band low-noise amplifier employing a feedback notch technique with simultaneous passband gain and stopband rejection control," *Microwave and Optical Technology Letters*, vol. 60, no. 6, pp. 1429–1435, Apr. 2018. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1002/mop.31169
- [13] N. Ghafarian, A. Raeesi, W. M. Abdel-Wahab, A. Palizban, E. H. Alian, A. Ehsandar, M. R. Nezhad-Ahmadi, and S. Safavi-Naeini, "K/Ka-Band TX/RX Phased Array Antenna System for Two-Way Mobile SATCOM Applications," in 2022 IEEE International Symposium on Antennas and Propagation and USNC-URSI Radio Science Meeting (AP-S/URSI), 2022, pp. 1502–1503.
- [14] K. Kibaroglu, M. Sayginer, and G. M. Rebeiz, "A Low-Cost Scalable 32-Element 28-GHz Phased Array Transceiver for 5G Communication Links Based on a 2 × 2 Beamformer Flip-Chip Unit Cell," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 53, no. 5, pp. 1260–1274, 2018.
- [15] C. Velazco, "The latest space race is all about improving internet access. here's what you should know." Nov 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.washingtonpost.com/ technology/2021/11/02/satellite-internet-starlink-kuiper-faq/
- [16] "Satellite frequency bands." [Online]. Available: https://www.esa.int/Applications/ Telecommunications\_Integrated\_Applications/Satellite\_frequency\_bands

- [17] K. K. W. Low, S. Zihir, T. Kanar, and G. M. Rebeiz, "A 27–31-GHz 1024-Element Ka-Band SATCOM Phased-Array Transmitter With 49.5-dBW Peak EIRP, 1-dB AR, and ±70° Beam Scanning," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 70, no. 3, pp. 1757–1768, 2022.
- [18] R. Mailloux, Phased Array Antenna Handbook, Third Edition, 3rd ed. Artech, 2017.
- [19] P. Candra, V. Jain, P. Cheng, J. Pekarik, R. Camillo-Castillo, P. Gray, T. Kessler, J. Gambino, J. Dunn, and D. Harame, "A 130nm SiGe BiCMOS technology for mm-Wave applications featuring HBT with fT/fMAX of 260/320 GHz," in 2013 IEEE Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits Symposium (RFIC), 2013, pp. 381–384.
- [20] S. Voinigescu, *High Frequency Integrated Circuits*, 1st ed. New York: Cambridge University Press, 2013.
- [21] B. Razavi, *RF Microelectronics*, 2nd ed. Prentice Hall, 2012.
- [22] A. H. Aljuhani and G. M. Rebeiz, "A 12.5 mW Packaged K-Band CMOS SOI LNA with 1.5 dB NF," in 2019 IEEE MTT-S International Microwave Symposium (IMS), 2019, pp. 156–159.
- [23] B. Chi, Z. Wang, and S. S. Wong, "A Superheterodyne Receiver Front-End With On-Chip Automatically Q-Tuned Notch Filters," in 2007 IEEE Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits (RFIC) Symposium, 2007, pp. 21–24.
- [24] B. Cui and J. R. Long, "A 1.7-dB Minimum NF, 22–32-GHz Low-Noise Feedback Amplifier With Multistage Noise Matching in 22-nm FD-SOI CMOS," *IEEE Journal* of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 55, no. 5, pp. 1239–1248, 2020.
- [25] J. Rogers, J. Macedo, and C. Plett, "A completely integrated 1.9 GHz receiver frontend with monolithic image reject filter and VCO," in 2000 IEEE Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits (RFIC) Symposium Digest of Papers (Cat. No.00CH37096), 2000, pp. 143–146.
- [26] T.-K. Nguyen, N.-J. Oh, C.-Y. Cha, Y.-H. Oh, G.-J. Ihm, and S.-G. Lee, "Imagerejection CMOS low-noise amplifier design optimization techniques," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 53, no. 2, pp. 538–547, 2005.
- [27] B. Park, S. Choi, and S. Hong, "A Low-Noise Amplifier With Tunable Interference Rejection for 3.1- to 10.6-GHz UWB Systems," *IEEE Microwave and Wireless Components Letters*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 40–42, 2010.

- [28] C. Ho, "IPN progress report NASA." [Online]. Available: http://tmo.jpl.nasa.gov/
- [29] F. C. Commission, "FCC 17-122: Update to Parts2 and 25 Concerning Non-Geostationary, Fixed-Satellite Service Systems and Related Matters."
- [30] I. T. Union, "S.1328-1 Satellite System Characteristics to be Considered in ..." [Online]. Available: https://www.itu.int/dms\_pubrec/itu-r/rec/s/R-REC-S. 1328-1-199911-S!!PDF-E.pdf
- [31] G. Gültepe, T. Kanar, S. Zihir, and G. M. Rebeiz, "A 1024-Element Ku-Band SAT-COM Dual-Polarized Receiver With ¿10-dB/K G/T and Embedded Transmit Rejection Filter," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 69, no. 7, pp. 3484–3495, 2021.
- [32] K. K. W. Low, S. Zihir, T. Kanar, and G. M. Rebeiz, "A 27–31-GHz 1024-Element Ka-Band SATCOM Phased-Array Transmitter With 49.5-dBW Peak EIRP, 1-dB AR, and ±70° Beam Scanning," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 70, no. 3, pp. 1757–1768, 2022.
- [33] X. Luo, J. Ouyang, Z.-H. Chen, Y. Yan, L. Han, Z. Wu, T. Yu, and K. Zheng, "A Scalable Ka-Band 1024-Element Transmit Dual-Circularly-Polarized Planar Phased Array for SATCOM Application," *IEEE Access*, vol. 8, pp. 156084–156095, 2020.
- [34] J. Zhang, D. Zhao, and X. You, "A 20-GHz 1.9-mW LNA Using gm-Boost and Current-Reuse Techniques in 65-nm CMOS for Satellite Communications," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 55, no. 10, pp. 2714–2723, 2020.
- [35] S. Li, T.-Y. Huang, Y. Liu, H. Yoo, Y. Na, Y. Hur, and H. Wang, "A Millimeter-Wave LNA in 45nm CMOS SOI with Over 23dB Peak Gain and Sub-3dB NF for Different 5G Operating Bands and Improved Dynamic Range," in 2021 IEEE Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits Symposium (RFIC), 2021, pp. 31–34.
- [36] J. Lee, "G/T and noise figure of active array antennas," *IEEE Transactions on An*tennas and Propagation, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 241–244, 1993.
- [37] D. M. Pozar, *Microwave Engineering*, 4th ed. Chichester, England: John Wiley & Sons, Nov. 2011.
- [38] N. Rendevski and D. Cassioli, "BER of IEEE 802.11ad OFDM radios vs. carrier frequency in real 60 GHz indoor channels," in 2014 IEEE International Conference on Communications (ICC), 2014, pp. 5878–5883.

- [39] L. Gao and G. M. Rebeiz, "A 20-42 GHz IQ Receiver in 22-nm CMOS FD-SOI with 2.7-4.2-dB NF and -25-dBm IP1dB for Wideband 5G Systems," *IEEE Transactions* on Microwave Theory and Techniques, vol. 69, no. 11, pp. 4951–4960, 2021.
- [40] F. C. Commission, "47 CFR Sec. 30.202 Power limits." 2022, https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-47/chapter-I/subchapter-B/part-30/subpart-C/ section-30.202.
- [41] S. R. Group", "All Things 5G NR mmWAVE White Paper," 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.qualcomm.com/content/dam/qcomm-martech/dm-assets/ documents/srg-mmwave-whitepaper.pdf
- [42] C. A. Balanis, Antenna theory. Wiley, 2016.
- [43] S. Rasti Boroujeni, M. H. Mazaheri, S. Ituah, A. Wyrzykowska, S. Ziabakhsh, A. Palizban, G. Chen, A. El-Gouhary, K. Fereidani, M.-R. Nezhad-Ahmadi, and S. Safavi-Naeini, "A High-Efficiency 27–30-GHz 130-nm Bi-CMOS Transmitter Front End for SATCOM Phased Arrays," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 69, no. 11, pp. 4977–4985, 2021.
- [44] "Microstrip Patch Antenna Array summary ANSYS innovation courses." [Online]. Available: https://courses.ansys.com/index.php/courses/ microstrip-patch-antenna-array/lessons/microstrip-patch-antenna-array-summary/
- [45] D. Zhao, P. Gu, Y. Yi, J. Zhang, C. Xu, M. Yang, Z. Chen, Y. Chai, H. Liu, S. Jiang, X. Yan, and X. You, "A K -Band Hybrid-Packaged Temperature-Compensated Phased-Array Receiver and Integrated Antenna Array," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, pp. 1–15, 2022.
- [46] M. Li, N. Li, H. Gao, S. Wang, Z. Zhang, P. Chen, N. Wei, Q. J. Gu, C. Song, and Z. Xu, "14.7 An Adaptive Analog Temperature-Healing Low-Power 17.7-to-19.2GHz RX Front-End with ±0.005dB/°C Gain Variation, i1.6dB NF Variation, and i2.2dB IP1dB Variation across -15 to 85°C for Phased-Array Receiver," in 2021 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference (ISSCC), vol. 64, 2021, pp. 230–232.
- [47] V. Jain, T. Kessler, B. J. Gross, J. J. Pekarik, P. Candra, P. B. Gray, B. Sadhu, A. Valdes-Garcia, P. Cheng, R. A. Camillo-Castillo, K. Newton, A. Natarajan, S. K. Reynolds, and D. L. Harame, "Device and circuit performance of SiGe HBTs in 130nm BiCMOS process with fT/fMAX of 250/330GHz," in 2014 IEEE Bipolar/BiCMOS Circuits and Technology Meeting (BCTM), 2014, pp. 96–99.

- [48] M. T. Reiha and J. R. Long, "A 1.2 v reactive-feedback 3.1–10.6 ghz low-noise amplifier in 0.13 μm cmos," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 42, no. 5, pp. 1023–1033, 2007.
- [49] A. M. Niknejad, Electromagnetics for High-Speed Analog and Digital Communication Circuits. Cambridge University Press, Feb. 2007. [Online]. Available: https: //doi.org/10.1017/cbo9780511805738
- [50] D. Cassan and J. Long, "A 1-V transformer-feedback low-noise amplifier for 5-GHz wireless LAN in 0.18-um CMOS," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 38, no. 3, pp. 427–435, 2003.
- [51] A. I. Sandhu, E. Arnieri, G. Amendola, L. Boccia, E. Meniconi, and V. Ziegler, "Radiating Elements for Shared Aperture Tx/Rx Phased Arrays at K/Ka Band," *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 64, no. 6, pp. 2270–2282, 2016.

# APPENDICES

# Appendix A

# H-Parameters of Transformer Feedback Notch

### A.1 H-Parameter Analysis

The H-parameters can be derived from the 2-port network consisting of the transformer and notch capacitor shown in Figure A.1.





Applying Kirchoff's Voltage Law (KVL) on both sides of the transformer gives A.1 and A.2, where  $s = j\omega$ ,  $M = k\sqrt{L_1L_2}$  is the mutual inductance, and k is the coupling factor.

$$v_1 = i_1 s L_1 + i_2 s M. (A.1)$$

$$v_2 = i_2(sL_2 + \frac{1}{sC_2}) + i_1 sM.$$
(A.2)

From the definition of H-parameters [20, p. 79],

$$h_{11} = \frac{v_1}{i_1}\Big|_{v_2=0}.\tag{A.3}$$

Setting  $v_2$  to 0 and solving A.1 and A.2 gives  $h_{11}$  as in A.4, where  $Z_n = sL_2 + \frac{1}{sC_2}$ .

$$h_{11} = sL_1 - \frac{s^2 M^2}{Z_n}.$$
 (A.4)

For the remaining H-parameters, we can set  $v_2$  or  $i_1$  to 0 as needed and solve A.1 and A.2, giving the remaining H-parameters as

$$h_{12} = \frac{v_1}{v_2}\Big|_{i_1=0} = \frac{-sM}{Z_n}.$$
(A.5)

$$h_{21} = \frac{i_2}{i_1}\Big|_{v_2=0} = \frac{sM}{Z_n}.$$
 (A.6)

$$h_{22} = \frac{i_2}{v_2}\Big|_{i_1=0} = \frac{1}{Z_n}.$$
(A.7)

Furthermore, substituting  $s = j\omega$  and  $Z_n = sL_2 + \frac{1}{sC_2}$  into A.6 gives

$$h_{21} = \frac{\omega^2 M C_2}{1 - \omega^2 L_2 C_2}.$$
 (A.8)
## Appendix B

## **Design 1 First-Stage Transistor Short**

A stated in Section 5.1, there was a short in Design 1 between the bases of the commonemitter and common-base transistors of the first-stage  $(Q_1 \text{ and } Q_2)$ . This short is present due to a layout error in the first-stage devices. Figure B.1 shows the layout of  $Q_1$  and  $Q_2$ . Each transistor consists of four 8x0.12  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> in parallel, with deep trenches in the substrate between them.  $Q_2$  is placed to the right of  $Q_1$ , separated by a deep trench. The collector, base, and emitter stripes are shown on the first metal layer (M1). Under the base is the base polysilicon, which extends over a larger area than the base metal stripe. The orientation and closeness between the devices in  $Q_1$  and  $Q_2$  led to a short between their respective base polysilicon.



Figure B.1

Normally, layout errors and shorts are detected during design verification with a tool known as Layout vs. Schematic (LVS). In the version of the PDK used to design LNA 1, there was a software bug that did not detect shorts on the base polysilicon layer. Fortunately, a newer version of the PDK that fixed the bug was used for the layout of Design 2, meaning the short will not be present in Design 2's fabricated chip.